Transglutaminase catalyzed amination of food protein and peptides with biogenic amines: studies on functionality and antioxidant capacity

by

Xinyao Lu

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Food Science and Technology

Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science University of Alberta

© Xinyao Lu, 2016

Abstract

There is a growing demand for innovative and affordable technologies in the food industry to modify ingredient functionality and to ensure product safety. Proteins are essential components in many food systems, and their structure can be modified in a variety of ways to control and improve functional characteristics of a food system. The enzymatic modification of proteins with transglutaminase is one such novel technology that has a broad range of applications, and was the focus of this research.

In the first study of this research, hydrolyzed pea protein were modified by microbial transglutaminase (MTGase) from the *Streptomyces mobaraensis* species. Biologically active (biogenic) amines histamine and tyramine were used as amine donor substrates in this enzyme-catalyzed reaction. Conjugation of biogenic amines and pea protein hydrolysates was achieved in the presence of MTGase after 6 h of incubation at 37°C. Conjugation progress was monitored by high performance liquid chromatography and fluorescence spectroscopy. Seventy six percent of histamine was covalently incorporated to protein hydrolysates by MTGase, thereby reduced the concentration of undesirable biogenic amine. Also, the MTGase-catalyzed introduction of tyramine into pea protein hydrolysates substantially improved the antioxidant potential of the newly formed conjugates.

In the second study, porcine skin gelatin was modified by MTGase-induced amination with tyramine in an aqueous media at 50°C. Gelation and melting

ii

temperatures, viscoelastic behaviour, as well as gelation rate and gel strength of tyramine-gelatin conjugates and MTGase-cross-linked gelatin were determined. MTGase-catalyzed cross-linking increased the gelation and melting temperatures of the gel. Incorporation of tyramine via MTGase did not change the gelling and melting temperatures of the gelatin. Tyramine incorporation negatively affected the gelling behaviour of the gelatin and was likely due to covalent tyraminegelatin bonds that interfered with the normal formation of triple helix networks.

Overall, this research demonstrated biogenic amines, as potential substrates for MTGase, were able to introduce into food proteins and peptides. A combination of glutamine-containing peptides together with MTGase has the potential to decontaminate fermented foods and beverages for biogenic amines.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express deep gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Mirko Betti, for his constant guidance and full support throughout my study and research, without which this work would have been a frustrating and overwhelming pursuit.

I would like to thank Dr. Zeb Pietrasik for giving advice and guidance in the course of completing the experiments. His constructive inputs in order to improvise the thesis was valued greatly. In addition, I express my appreciation to the external examiner Dr. Hoon Sunwoo for willing to spend his precious time in evaluating this thesis.

My special thanks go to Dr. Yuliya Hrynets, who provided assistance and comments to help me.

I am also grateful to my colleagues and numerous friends for giving helpful advices throughout this academic exploration.

Finally, my immense gratitude goes to my family for the support they provided me through my entire life. Without their unconditional love and encouragement, I would not have been able to complete this thesis.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Literature review: Microbial transglutaminase and its	
applications in food processing	1
1.1 An overview on the transglutaminase enzyme	1
1.2 Insight into transglutaminase of microbial origin	4
1.2.1 Different origins of TGase	4
1.2.2 Production of MTGase	5
1.2.3 Characteristics of MTGase	7
1.3 Application of MTGase in food processing industry	11
1.3.1 Meat and fish products	11
1.3.2 Dairy products	13
1.3.2.1 Effect of MTGase on quality characteristics of cheeses	15
1.3.2.2 Effect of MTGase-induced cross-linking on ice cream	16
1.3.3 Cereal products	17
1.3.4 Edible protein films	18
1.4 Introduction of biogenic amines	20
1.5 Production of gelatin	24
1.6 Transglutaminase and gelatin	27
1.7 Research hypotheses and objectives	28

Chapter 2 (Study 1): Transglutaminase-catalyzed amination of pea protein	
peptides using biogenic amines and its effect on antioxidant activity	31
2.1 Introduction	31
2.2 Materials and Methods	34
2.2.1 Materials	34
2.2.2 Experimental design	35
2.2.3 Preparation of pea protein hydrolysates (PPH)	36
2.2.4 Determination of the degree of hydrolysis	37
2.2.5 MTGase amination of PPH with histamine (HIS)	37
2.2.6 MTGase amination of PPH with tyramine (TYR)	38
2.2.7 Proof MTGase-catalyzed conjugation of PPH with HIS or TYR	39
2.2.7.1 Derivatization procedure	39
2.2.7.2 High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) unit and ope	erative
conditions	39
2.2.7.3 Quantitative analysis	40
2.2.7.4 Evaluation of MTGase-amination of PPH with TYR by fluoresc	ence
spectroscopy	41
2.2.8 Evaluation of antioxidant activity by DPPH radical scavenging activity	ivity
assay	41
2.2.9 Inhibition of linoleic acid oxidation	42
2.2.10 Statistical analyses	43
2.3 Results and Discussions	43

2.3.1 Extent of enzymatic modifications of pea protein hydrolysates	43
2.3.2 Evidence of PPH-HIS conjugation by liquid chromatography	46
2.3.3 Evidence of PPH-TYR conjugation by fluorescence spectroscopy	49
2.3.4 DPPH radical scavenging activity	51
2.3.5. Inhibition of linoleic acid oxidation	55
2.4 Conclusions	57
Chapter 3 (Study 2): Incorporating tyramine with transglutaminase we	eakens
gelatin gels – a rheological investigation	58
3.1 Introduction	58
3.2 Materials and Methods	60
3.2.1 Materials	60
3.2.2 Experimental Design	61
3.2.3 Determination of enzyme activity	61
3.2.4 Preparation of the gelatin treatments	62
3.2.5 Dynamic viscoelastic measurements	63
3.2.6 Statistical analyses	65
3.3 Results and Discussions	66
3.3.1 Effect of MTGase amination on gelatin's gelation temperature	66
3.3.2 Effect of MTGase amination of gelatin on storage (G') and loss mod	lulus
<i>(G'')</i>	68
3.3.3 Effect of MTGase amination of gelatin on gelation rate (K_{gel}) and g	el
strength (G_N)	70
	vii

3.3.4 Effect of MTGase amination on gelatin's melting temperature	76
3.4. Conclusions	77
Chapter 4: Conclusions, implications and future work	79
Bibliography	81

List of Tables

Table 3.1 Gelation rate (K_{gel}) and gel strength	(G_N) of treatments during holding
phase at 10°C for 3 h	

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Transglutaminase-catalyzed reactions: (A) Incorporation of a variety of primary amines into proteins; (B) Cross-linking of proteins and (C) Deamidation
Figure 1.2: Mricrobial transglutaminase three-dimensional structure with the predicted catalytic triad (Cys64, His274, Asp255)
Figure 1.3: Practical use of protein cross-links induced via the action of transglutaminase
Figure 1.4: Biogenic amines structures
Figure 1.5: Porcine skin gelatin production
Figure 2.1: Time course of proteolytic degradation of pea protein isolate obtained by three different enzymes: alcalase, trypsin and Flavourzyme at 1:50 (w/w) enzyme/substrate ratio. Protein concentration was 5% (w/v). Each data point is the mean of 2 determinations from three independent batches. Vertical bars represent standard deviations (n = 6). Different letters represent significant differences (p < 0.05). The data were fitted on a curve with a non-linear model using GraphPad Prism graph-plotting program
Figure 2.2: Chromatograms of dansylated derivatives of HIS detected at 254 nm. (A) Standard solutions of HIS at 5 (1); 10 (2); 20 (3); 40 (4); 80 (5); 160 (6) µg/mL and (B) PPH, PPH-HIS, PPH (+) MTGase and PPH-HIS (+) MTGase incubated at 37°C for 6 h. Peak designated as 'HIS' refers to a dansylated histamine
Figure 2.3: Fluorescence spectra profiles of PPH-TYR conjugates obtained in the presence of MTGase and control treatments (PPH, PPH + MTGase, TYR). Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n = 6) and expressed in arbitrary units (A.U.). FI refers to fluorescence intensity

Figure 2.4: DPPH free radical scavenging activities of (A) PPH-TYR conjugates produced via MTGase and control treatments (PPH, PPH + MTGase, TYR). The vertical bars represent the standard deviation (n = 6) of each data point. Different letters above the bars represent significant differences (p < 0.05). (B) A plot of TYR and PPH concentration (mg/mL) vs. DPPH scavenging activity (% RSA). 54

Figure 3.5: Melting temperatures (T_m) of the treatments with gelatin concentrations of 5 and 6.67% (w/v). The values were obtained during heating of

the respective treatments from 10 to 45°C. Data are presented as mean \pm standard
deviation (n = 6). Values with different alphabets are significantly different ($p < -$
0.05)

List of Abbreviations

%RSA, Percentage of relative HHP, High hydrostatic pressure scavenging activity HIS, Histamine A, Absorbance HPLC, High performance liquid chromatography ANOVA, Analysis of variance HyPro, Hydroxyproline Asp, Aspartic acid BAs, Biogenic amines K_{gel}, Gelation rate BHT, Butylated hydroxytoluene LVR, Linear viscoelastic region BVPC, Bitter vetch protein Lys, Lysine concentrate MTGase, Microbial transglutaminase Cys, Cysteine MW, Molecular weight DDGSs, Dried distillers grains with MWCO, Molecular weight cut-off solubles PPH, Pea protein hydrolysates DH, Degree of hydrolysis Pro, Proline DNA, Deoxyribonucleic acid PSG, Porcine skin gelatin DPPH, 2,2-diphenyl-1picrylhydrazyl RNA, Ribonucleic acid FMP, Fish myofibrillar protein TG2, Transglutaminase 2 G-L bonds, ε -(γ -glutamyl) lysine TGase, Transglutaminase bonds T_{gel}, Gelation temperature G', Storage modulus T_m, Melting temperature G". Loss modulus TYR, Tyramine GF, Gluten-free Z-Gln-Gly, N-Benzyloxycarbonyl-L-Gln, Glutamine Glutaminylglycine Gly, Glycine

 G_N , Gel strength

Chapter 1: Literature review: Microbial transglutaminase and its applications in food processing

1.1 An overview on the transglutaminase enzyme

In recent decades, multi-disciplinary efforts have searched for unique products and processing methodologies that can alter the functional properties of food matrices. Proteins represent major components of food, and apart from nutritional value, provide various functionalities that affect food quality and consumer perception. Proteins can be tailored in chemical and enzymatic ways (Singh, 1991; Gerrard, 2002). Modified proteins with improved functional properties usually have a wider scope of use to satisfy new food trends and consumer expectations. Proteins with distinct properties can be created by chemically modifying specific site amino acid residues of original protein structures. These modifications include acylation, methylation, phosphorylation, succinvlation, esterification and glycosylation (Lundblad, 2014; Boutureira and Bernardes, 2015). The utilization of chemical modification can be limited and unfavorable due to harmful by-products that may form during processing; indeed many of the chemical reagents used are toxic. Thus, a milder approach to produce protein cross linkages is certainly desirable. Accordingly, different enzymatic modifications have been proposed as alternatives. There are several procedures that employ enzymes such as protein partial hydrolysis, incorporation of functional groups to the side residues of the proteins, and the formation of covalently linked protein networks with versatile properties. These modifications

can be achieved under biological conditions by peptidases (EC 3.4.x), transglutaminases (EC 2.3.2.13), tyrosinases (EC 1.14.18.1), laccases (EC 1.10.3.2), and peroxidases (EC 1.11.1.x) (Buchert et al., 2010; Heck et al., 2013). The investigation of how enzymes can be used to modify the functional properties of food proteins is still growing. Currently there are two major enzymatic methods for the conjugation of proteins with a variety of natural polymers using the cross-linking activity of the enzymes tyrosinases and transglutaminases (Mariniello et al., 2014). Tyrosinases oxidize phenolic residues of protein tyrosines to guinones, which can further cross-link with other side chain residues of a different protein (Selinheimo et al., 2008). However, the application of tyrosinases in food applications is limited due to the color of oxidation products, limited accessibility of phenolic residues in certain globular protein structures and the chemical nature of catalyzed covalent bonds that are not yet fully characterized (Gerrard 2002; Mariniello et al., 2014). Until now the only commercially available food-grade protein crosslinking enzymes are transglutaminases.

Transglutaminase (TGase, protein-glutamine: amine- γ -glutamyltransferase; EC 2.3.2.13) belongs to the acyltransferases group, which catalyzes acyl-transfer reactions between a γ -carboxyamide group of peptide- or protein-bound glutamine residues (Gln, acyl donors) and a variety of primary amines or the ε amino group of lysine residues (Lys, acyl acceptors) in proteins. This results in the formation of isopeptide bonds, like ε -(γ -glutamyl) lysine bonds (G-L bonds). One molecule of ammonia is generated for each cross-linking reaction. When

lysine residues or primary amines are not available from the reaction system, TGase can catalyze the deamidation of glutamine residues using water as an acyl acceptor. TGase possess glutamine substrate specificity, but is compatible with a wide range of acyl acceptor substrates (Buchert et al., 2010). Moreover, bonds formed by TGases are highly resistant to proteolytic degradation (Griffin et al., 2002). Transglutaminase-catalyzed reactions are shown in Figure 1.1. The reaction promoted by TGase has been reported with a variety of food proteins as substrates to improve their solubility, water-holding capacity, emulsifying, foaming, and gelling capacity in food matrices. Their commercial availability, reaction efficiency and versatility result in the increased use of TGases in meat, fish, dairy and cereal industries.



Figure 1.1: Transglutaminase-catalyzed reactions: (A) Incorporation of a variety of primary amines into proteins; (B) Cross-linking of proteins and (C) Deamidation. Adapted from *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, "Properties and applications of microbial transglutaminase", 64(4), 2004, p.448, Yokoyama, K., Nio, N., and Kikuchi, Y, 2004. Copyright 2004 by Springer-Veriag. Adapted with permission.

1.2 Insight into transglutaminase of microbial origin

1.2.1 Different origins of TGase

TGases are widespread in most animal tissues and bodily fluids. Eight TGases have been identified so far; they are Factor XIII (fibrin stabilizing factor), tissue transglutaminase, prostate transglutaminase, epidermal transglutaminase, keratinocyte transglutaminase, TGM X, TGM Y, and TGM Z (Griffin et al., 2002). These mammalian enzymes can be found in almost all cell compartments such as the cytoplasm, mitochondria, recycling endosomes, and nucleus (Kanchan et al., 2015). They are characterized with several physiological and pathological roles including maintaining the extracellular matrix (ECM) integrity, regulating cell adhesion, modulating signal transduction and serving as protein scaffolds (Eckert et al., 2014). The first TGase now designated as transglutaminase 2 (TG2), was identified in guinea pig liver more than 50 years ago and was used to incorporate amines to proteins (Sarkar et al., 1957). Guinea pig liver was the sole source of commercial TGase for food industries until the end of the 1980s (Connellan et al., 1971; Brookhart et al., 1983). The rare source, extremely high cost, complicated separation and purification procedures for manufacturing tissue TGases prompted the search for new sources of this enzyme. Since then, TGases were identified in various mammalian tissues (Yasueda et al., 1994), fish (Ha and Iuchi, 2003), and in soy fodder beet and orchard apple plant tissues (Falcone et al., 1993). The separation and purification of this enzyme from these newer sources are still in their infancy and yet are applied in food processing on an

industrial scale (Zhu et al., 1995). A microbial transglutaminase (MTGase) was first isolated from the culture broth of *Streptomyces* S-8112 in 1989, later identified as a variant of *Streptomyces mobaraensis* (Motoki et al., 1989; Ando et al., 1989). Then efforts scaled up the production of MTGase for commercial applications. Ajinomoto Co. Inc produces *Streptomyces* TGase at an industrial scale and is the only transglutaminase product used for commercial applications so far (Macedo et al., 2011). MTGase is generally recognized as a safe (GRAS) for human ingestion (Kuraishi et al., 2001) by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) since 1998. According to Directive 2000/13 EC of the European Parliament, MTGase is considered an adjuvant technology and does not need to be identified in the end product (Ajinomoto, 2013). Since this enzyme is not antigenic and is safe for food use its popularity as a useful tool in food processing is increasing.

1.2.2 Production of MTGase

The main approach to obtain industrially useful MTGases is using techniques of isolation and screening to identify TGase-producing strains from thousands of different microorganisms. Fermentation technology is used to manufacture the enzyme as purified, well-characterized preparations with high activity. *Streptomyces* MTGase is currently the only one commercially produced at a reasonable scale (Kirk et al., 2002). Naturally synthesized *Streptomyces* TGase is expressed as intracellular insoluble inclusion bodies or as inactive pro-MTG; these avoid uncontrolled cross-linking of cellular proteins, which are then

activated by several exogenous proteases, such as bovine trypsin, intestinal chymotrypsin through the removal of the N-terminal pro-peptide (Pasternack et al., 1998; Salis et al., 2015). In order to improve the production of *Streptomyces* TGase, researches have focused on optimizing the cultivation conditions and the nature of culture medium. Numerous studies have examined the expression of Streptomyces TGase using bacterial host microorganisms, such as Escherichia coli (Yokoyama et al., 2000) or Corynebacterium glutamicum (Kikuchi et al, 2003). Research regarding the expression of MTGase is systematically advancing; especially with *Escherichia coli* due to its ease of culture, short doubling time, and being the most suitable screening platform for directed evolution (Chen et al., 2013). Recent attempts to increase production efficiency have been made by synthesizing the active-form MTGase using *Streptomyces lividans* as a host (Noda et al., 2013). The composition of fermentation media is critical, especially the carbon and nitrogen sources as the two main components, since it influences the production, yield, and volumetric productivity of *Streptomyces* TGase (Guerra-Rodríguez and Vázquez, 2014). In the industrial biotechnology processes it is not economical to use culture media since the large amount of nutrients are required such as yeast extract and peptone, which are prohibitively expensive (Kieliszek and Misiewicz, 2014). Numerous publications have discussed using agricultural waste materials as medium sources for MTGase production. Rodríguez-Castillejos et al. (2014) studied the feasibility of the production of TGase by a selected *Streptomyces mobaraensis* strain grown in a medium based on enzymatic sorghum grain hydrolysates and dried distillers grains with solubles (DDGSs).

This crude medium was able to cultivate organisms that could produce a reasonable MTGase activity (0.66 U/mL). The cost of sorghum is relatively low since it is a livestock feed. DDGSs are generated as waste in the production of ethanol from corn. Although not as economical as sorghum and DDGSs, the greatest yield of MTGase production (3.2 U/mL) was obtained with a medium formulated using skim milk, potato, and glycerol (Guerra-Rodríguez and Vázquez, 2014). This formulation did not require the addition of supplemental nutrients such as yeast extract, peptone and sodium caseinate. The search for both productive and inexpensive alternatives for MTGase production media is a key to its future commercial viability.

1.2.3 Characteristics of MTGase

Some of the physico-chemical properties of purified MTGase, such as molecular weight, molecular structure, and enzymatic properties, have been documented. TGase from microbial origin has a molecular weight of approximately 38 kDa, which is much lower than that isolated from animal tissues (Ando et al., 1989). The primary structure of MTGase is a single polypeptide comprised of 331 amino acid residues, with only a single cysteine (Cys⁶⁴) residue in its overall sequence (Kanaji et al., 1993). Its secondary structure forms a compact internal domain with a deep cleft, containing a central 8-stranded β -sheet surrounded by 11 α -helices (Figure 1.2) (Kashiwagi et al., 2002). MTGase contains a Cys-His-Asp catalytic triad similar to human TG2 (Strop, 2014). Its nucleophilic attack on the substrate begins with deprotonation of the active site

Cys64 thiol group by nearby His274 side chain; these two residues are principally involved in the acyl-transfer mechanism reaction, where Asp255 plays a critical catalytic role in maintaining the structure orientation (Martins et al., 2014). The substrate specificity of MTGase is likely determined by the combination of primary sequence, secondary structure, its flexibility and accessibility to a specific glutamine (Strop, 2014). In contrast to mammalian TGase, MTGase's independence of Ca^{2+} makes it very attractive to the food industry, since many food proteins such as milk caseins, soybean globulins and myosins are susceptible to Ca^{2+} precipitation (Motoki and Seguro, 1998). Furthermore, its activation requires no special cofactors such as Cu²⁺, Zn²⁺ and Pb²⁺, which tend to bind the thiol group of the Cys residue. This explains why the enzyme has a broader substrate specificity and lower deamidation activity (Yokoyama et al., 2004). MTGase is tolerant to a broad range of reaction conditions. Its isoelectric point is approximately 8.9, and it acts in a wide range of pHs, from 5.0 to 8.0, with pH 6.0 to 7.0 being the most favourable for its catalytic activity (Ando et al. 1989). MTGase is active at temperatures between 0 and 70°C with the optimum temperature of 55°C, capable of maintaining its activity at 70°C temperature for 10 min. The enzyme is very susceptible to heat and rapidly loses activity within a few minutes above 70°C. At near-freezing temperatures MTGase maintains total enzyme activity (Yokoyama et al., 2004).



Figure 1.2: Mricrobial transglutaminase three-dimensional structure with the predicted catalytic triad (Cys64, His274, Asp255). Reprinted with permission from Strop P. (2014) "Versatility of microbial transglutaminase", *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 25 (5), p. 856. Copyright 2014 by American chemical society.

MTGase achieves a site-specific protein modification at the level of one or a few Gln and Lys residues in protein substrates, resulting in the covalent incorporation of amino acids or peptides (Strop, 2014). This reaction could enhance the nutritional value of food proteins, since these additional amino acids or peptides would behave like endogenous amino acids and be liberated by the action of digestive enzymes in the normal mammalian gastrointestinal tract (Yokoyama et al., 2004). In food matrices, the formation of an isopeptide G-L bond stabilizes the protein network; it has a great resistance to mechanical stress and proteolytic degradation (DeJong and Koppelman, 2002). The MTGasemediated formation of cross-linkages through amines of different lengths can result in high molecular weight polymers, causing extensive protein conformational changes (Serafini-Fracassini et al., 2009; Carvajal et al., 2011). The rapidly increasing practical applications of MTGase give the food industry the ability to modify various functional properties of food products (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3: Practical use of protein cross-links induced via the action of transglutaminase. Adapted from *Food chemistry*, 171, Gaspar, A. L. C., and de Góes-Favoni, S. P., "Action of microbial transglutaminase (MTGase) in the modification of food proteins: A review", p. 318, 2015. Adapted with permission. Copyright 2014 by Elsevier Ltd.

1.3 Application of MTGase in food processing industry

1.3.1 Meat and fish products

The demand for high quality but low-priced meat production has motivated the industry to develop novel processing methodologies to utilize carcasses and low-value meat cuts of poorer quality. Restructured meats and various sausages make it possible to exhibit consumer-desirable texture and appearance, with the goal of increased retail product value (Maróstica and Pastore, 2010). The MTGase-aided manufacture of restructured meat is one of the main technologies used here, since the process acts as a binding agent. This maximizes the efficiency of carcass utilization by creating palatable meat pieces resembling intact muscle (Gerrard, 2002). Apart from a positive impact on the texture and consumer acceptance of the final products, the use of MTGase does not require the addition of salt, phosphates or thermal treatment, all traditionally used in restructured meats. This means MTGase can be used to satisfy consumers demand for healthier low sodium products (Motoki and Kumazawa, 2000). de Ávila et al. (2012) investigated the effect of using MTGase on restructuring deboned dry ham. The authors reported the formation of a three-dimensional protein network in the pork cubes catalyzed by cross-linking reactions, and the bonds were stabilized further upon drying of MTGase-treated cured boneless pork shank. Canto et al. (2014) concluded that hardness, springiness and resistance increased in low sodium restructured caiman steaks containing MTGase without compromising sensory qualities.

Myofibrillar proteins are the key functional muscle proteins, and primarily contribute the main functional properties of muscle foods, including gelation, emulsification and water-binding capacity (Tornberg, 2005). Hong and Xiong (2012) demonstrated that MTGase increased solubility of pork myofibrillar proteins under various pH conditions, and obtained maximum solubility at pH of 3.0. The authors also noted an improved emulsion capacity and viscosity by increasing the pH due to a network formation via enzymatic action. A partial reaction of MTGase with myosin heavy chains alters structure of myosin by creating protein-protein cross-links; the newly formed protein mesh has fewer α helices but an increased number of β -sheets (Ahhmed et al., 2009a). These modifications contribute to the formation of a strong gel network and play an important role in texture properties such as stiffness, elasticity, cohesion and adhesiveness. Ahhmed et al. (2009b) confirmed that the gel strength in both beef and chicken improved through the reaction of myosin with MTGase, and was significantly greater in beef.

Surimi is the concentrated myofibrillar protein obtained from mechanically deboned fish flesh. Industries strive to produce high quality surimi products with improved gel strength and whiteness, since the raw fish materials have a large amount of dark muscle containing significant levels of lipids and myoglobin (Chanarat and Benjakul, 2013). In an evaluation of the gelation properties of surimi from different fishes modified with MTGase (0.2-0.6 U/g), Chanarat and Benjakul (2012) observed an increase in the gel strength of threadfin bream fish. Here the natural actomyosin extracted from this type of fish had the greatest

amount of ε -amino group content and provided the reactive groups necessary for cross-linking.

Combining non-meat ingredients with meat products using MTGase can improve the product's functional properties to create new food products. Kudre and Benjakul (2013) concluded that the gel strength of sardube surimi was greatly improved by the addition of MTGase (0.6 U/g) in combination with bambara groundnut proteins (4.5 or 6% (w/w)). Here enzyme-catalyzed G-L bonds of this mixed gel were formed between muscle and groundnut proteins possessing an increased breaking force. Similar increases in gel strength were reported with heat-treated myofibrillar protein isolate/pea protein isolate mixtures (3:1) with inclusion of appropriate amounts of MTGase (Sun and Arntfield, 2012). Zhang et al. (2013) conducted experiments involving the addition of different starches from corn, potato and tapioca to MTGase-treated surimi-beef gel. They concluded that addition of potato starch yielded the greatest gel strength. Authors also observed that a mixed gel with MTGase as a binder had the least cooking loss.

1.3.2 Dairy products

Research has also been published exploiting the use of MTGase with milk proteins. Casein, the major protein in milk, is an excellent substrate for TGase due to its open chain structure making it accessible to the enzyme (Bönisch et al., 2006). Among the caseins in milk, κ -casein was the most susceptible to enzyme reaction in unheated milk, followed by β -casein and α -casein (Sharma et al., 2001). The greatest susceptibility in κ -casein is due to its content of Gln and Lys residues and their location on the micelle surface making it more accessible to the enzyme (Traore and Meunier 1991). Globular whey proteins are much more difficult to undergo this cross-link reaction since they are stabilized by disulfide bridges (Bönisch et al., 2007). Dithiothreitol promotes partial denaturation of whey proteins by cleaving disulfide bonds, liberating Gln and Lys residues as substrates, making them more available to the enzyme (Lee et al, 2002). MTGase also can contribute to the quality of yogurt, which is a major product of the dairy industry. The appearance, sensory quality and consumer acceptability of yogurt are strongly determined by its physicochemical properties, particularly acidity, syneresis and viscosity. In a set-style yogurt, the basic idea behind in using MTGase is to improve its texture. Instead of adding extra dry protein powder or stabilizer, cross-linking milk proteins with MTGase may positively influence the functional properties of the final yogurt product, such as increasing the gel strength/firmness, preventing syneresis and contributing to a dry, stable, smooth surface. Jooyandeh et al. (2015) investigated the effects of MTGase treatment on the selected properties of reduced fat milk-based set-style yogurt. Compared to a control samples, pre-incubation with MTGase prior to fermentation decreased the extent of syneresis and improved the rheological properties of this low fat yogurt. MTGase treatment led to a considerable decrease in the serum separation on the yogurt's gel surface. This effect is supported by the results published by Lorenzen et al. (2002), who found serum separation decreased up to 20% with MTGase enzymatic addition. The excellent G-L cross-linking properties of casein via the action of MTGase gives rise to a strong and stable gel, which directly decreases

the syneresis phenomena (Anema et al., 2005). Furthermore, this increased gel strength influences other functional properties such as water-holding capacity and viscosity, due to the formation of the homogeneous microstructures with small pores (Han et al., 2009). According to Jooyandeh et al. (2015) and Ozer et al. (2007), MTGase treatment was still effective in the development of acidity in yogurt. Though enzymatic cross-linking led to a minor imbalance of the associative growth of the yogurt starter culture and delayed bacterial multiplication.

1.3.2.1 Effect of MTGase on quality characteristics of cheeses

The introduction of additional covalent cross-links by MTGase for low fat cheese production shows promise. Various studies report that the reduction of the fat content has problems. It often leads to various defects such as increased moisture content, decreased cheese yield, rise in curd acidity, poor cheese ripening indices and lower total volatile fatty acids compared with full-fat cheese (Fenelon and Guinee, 2000; Shehata et al., 2004; Sahan et al., 2008). An investigation carried out by Ahmed et al. (2015) to improve the textural profile and organoleptic properties of low fat Gouda cheese employed either a protein-based fat replacer or MTGase. They demonstrated an increased protein recovery and cheese yield after MTGase treatment. The investigation by Sayadi et al. (2013) on the manufacture of MTGase-treated low fat Iranian white cheese also supported the former results. The enzyme-catalyzed cross-linking of casein micelles limits the movement and the rearrangement of protein chains to form casein gels that entrap free proteins present in whey and decrease wheying-off.

This results in a denser network structure that ultimately yields a firmer cheese even though the moisture content of the cheese was greater (Lucey et al., 2003; Aaltonen et al., 2014). The organoleptic properties of MTGase-treated cheeses had improved body and texture and an increased water holding capacity (Ahmed et al., 2015).

1.3.2.2 Effect of MTGase-induced cross-linking on ice cream

Ice cream is a complex colloidal system mainly comprised of ice crystals, air bubbles, partially coalesced fat globules and aggregates (Goff, 2002). From a structural perspective, milk proteins emulsify the fat and contribute to the partial coalescence and fat structure formation, leading to enhanced aeration and foam stability (Vega and Goff, 2005). The formation of ice cream structure is hindered when the fat content is reduced, since it is a critical component conferring consistency on the product by affecting ice crystallization, hardness and melting rate (EI-Nagar et al., 2002). Appropriate amounts of MTGase can be applied efficiently in the production of ice creams as a partial replacement for fat. According to Rossa et al. (2012), MTGase-induced cross-links occur in higher molecular weight whey and casein proteins. With a decreased fat ice cream product, the enzyme-catalyzed polymerization can stabilize air bubbles and increase the product volume. The formation a more cohesive protein network led to both better melting resistance and improved pseudoplastic properties of partially fat replaced ice cream.

1.3.3 Cereal products

Gluten is a key ingredient found in grains such as wheat, barley and rye. Individuals with celiac disease must adhere to what is commonly referred to as a gluten-free (GF) diet due to their inappropriate immune response to gluten proteins. Foods sources allowed in a GF diet include rice, corn, sorghum quinoa, buckwheat, amaranth flours and by-products from these raw materials (Schuppan et al., 2005). However, the quality of a baking product is largely dependent on the superior viscoelastic properties of gluten in the dough. During dough mixing, gluten is an essential protein that can form covalent bonds (e.g., disulfide bonds) and non-covalent bonds (e.g., hydrophobic interactions). The viscoelastic network has a critical impact on volume, texture and flavor of the dough (Delcour et al., 2012). Flours from GF cereals result in a batter rather than dough, since their proteins lack adequate viscoelastic properties and the necessary gas holding capacity during the baking process (Cauvain, 2015). In this respect, seeking better alternatives of gluten is still a technological challenge for the food industry. The TGase enzymatic technique can be applied as replacement to mimic gluten functionality. The first research on this hypothesis was provided by Gujral and Rosell (2004) on rice flour modified with 1% (w/w) MTGase. They showed progressive enhancement on the rheological properties of rice dough with an increased specific volume (2.75 mL/g) and a softer crumb quality. Renzetti et al. (2008) evaluated the use of MTGase in flours from six different GF cereals (brown rice, buckwheat, corn, oat, sorghum and teff) during bread-making. They concluded that brown rice and buckwheat flours were the optimal substrates for

the MTGase application. The rheology of batters and the resulting breads from buckwheat and rice flour improved due to the formation of large protein complexes catalyzed by the enzyme. This study indicated that addition of MTGase improves the elastic-like behavior of corn batters, but was not effective to obtain breads from oat, sorghum or teff. MTGase was also applied to improve the quality of GF-cookies using buckwheat flour formulated with rice and corn (Altındağ et al. 2015). Their study showed significant changes in the moisture level of cookies prepared with buckwheat (100%) and a buckwheat-corn (50%-50%) flour mix when MTGase was added. The moisture level was enhanced due to enzyme-catalyzed deamidation, resulting in increase in the glutamic acid residues content. Subsequently, the negative charges of these groups increased the water binding ability of the proteins. Buckwheat-rice flour with added MTGase had the greatest spread ratio, a characteristic desirable for better cookies quality. Addition of MTGase further led to improved textural properties and gave softer but more brittle cookies, measured by decreased hardness and increased fracturability values.

1.3.4 Edible protein films

Packaging is used to coat fresh and processed food products to reduce secondary contamination, maintain food quality and extend shelf life after processing and during storage. Hydrocolloidal biopolymers, such as proteins and polysaccharides, have attracted extensive interest to form edible films. They are relatively abundant and can form excellent films that are biodegradable and renewable (Vargas et al., 2008; Pires et al., 2011). The unique abilities of MTGase make its applications in the creation of edible films feasible. Inherent problems of films that must be addressed include a low resistance to tension, susceptibility to mechanical damage, poor elasticity, and poor resilience of traditional natural polymers. Protein films can be used as a vehicle for the delivery of antimicrobial agents, antioxidants or functional ingredients such as probiotics, minerals and vitamins (Marquez et al., 2014; Chambi and Grosso, 2006). New protein materials represent a natural source for biofilms that has been explored and characterized in recent years, and were formerly regarded as waste products (Di Pierro et al., 2011). Myofibrillar and sarcoplasmic proteins from fish muscle by-products have been widely used to produce biofilms. Rostamzad et al. (2016) developed MTGase modified fish myofibrillar protein (FMP) film with a nanoclay. They concluded the biofilm had improved physical and mechanical properties when MTGase was added. The tensile strength of FMP films increased by about 62.3% by incorporating 3 wt% of MTGase. This was due to crosslinking in the polymer matrices which improved the rigidity of polymer molecules by creating a dense protein network with an increased molecular weight. The presence of 3 wt% MTGase resulted in significant decrease of water vapor permeability in these FMP films as compared to the untreated control. The new intra- and intermolecular covalent bonds catalyzed by MTGase likely created a continuous matrix with greater cross-linking density, resulting in decreased water solubility and increased water vapor barrier properties. A grain legume modified with MTGase was also used to produce edible films. Bitter vetch cultivated for

forage and seed is an inexpensive protein source found today in many countries around the world (Sadeghi et al., 2009). The possibility of using MTGase in the manufacture of bitter vetch protein concentrate (BVPC) edible films was investigated. Here the impact of enzyme treatment on morphological and functional properties of BVPC-based films was studied (Porta et al., 2015). MTGase containing BVPC films had a more compact microstructure when crosslinks were formed among the molecules. This improved both the resistance and stiffness of the film. This film exhibited a 50-fold lower CO₂ permeability and 700-fold O₂ permeability compared to the non-MTGase treated film because the enzyme increased the molecular weight and cross-linking among the protein structure. Improved film mechanical features and gas barrier properties benefit the maintenance of food quality to maximize food shelf life and consumer appeal.

1.4 Introduction of biogenic amines

Biogenic amines (BAs) are basic nitrogenous compound formed by amination and transamination of aldehydes and ketones or by decarboxylation of amino acids (Askar and Treptow, 1986; Maijala et al., 1993). They are a group of organic bases with a low molecular weight. BAs are generally formed and degraded by the normal metabolism of plants and living organisms, but large amount of them are also produced in foods by microbial decarboxylation of amino acids (Ten Brink et al., 1990). The chemical natures of BAs include aliphatic (cadaverine, putresince, spermine, spermidine), aromatic (tyramine, phenylethylamine) and heterocyclic (histamine, tryptamine) structures (Figure 1.4). BAs formation results from the decarboxylation of free amino acids as precursors by enzymes of bacterial origin. The prerequisites for BAs formation by microorganisms include the availability of corresponding free amino acids (Marklinder and Lönner, 1992), the presence of decarboxylase-positive microorganisms (Tiecco et al., 1986; Ten Brink et al., 1990; Hose et al., 1990), conditions that allow bacterial growth, and decarboxylase synthesis and decarboxylase activity (Brink et al., 1990). When all of these prerequisites are met, amino acid decarboxylation is able to take place and removes a carboxyl group to produce the corresponding amine. For example, lysine can be decarboxylased to cadaverine, while histidine can be converted by bacterial reaction into histamine. Spermine and spermidine are both formed by arginine, and tyramine, tryptamine, serotonin, and phenylethylamine arise by the same manner from tyrosine, tryptophane, hydroxytryptophan and phenylalanine, respectively. BAs are naturally present in wide variety of foods including vegetables, fruits, meat products, fish, dairy, beer, wine and their products. Furthermore, BAs can be expected in all foods that contain proteins or free amino acids, which are subjected to conditions enabling microbial activity, especially in fermented food products.



Figure 1.4: Biogenic amines structures.

BAs also play important roles in many human and animal physiological functions, such as the regulation of body temperature, the intake of nutritional factors, and blood pressure control (Ten Brink et al., 1990, Greif et al., 1999). Polyamines (putrescine, spermidine and spermine) are indispensable components of all living cells and are involved in signal transduction, and DNA, RNA, and protein synthesis. They are essential for maintaining high metabolic activity of the normal functioning and immunological system of the gut (Bardócz et al., 1993, Santos, 1996). The presence of some amines (catecholamine, indolamine and histamine) is related to vital metabolic functions in humans, especially to the nervous system and the control of blood pressure (Halász et al., 1994). Histamine serves as a primary mediator of the acute symptoms of an allergic response (Taylor, 1986; Stratton et al., 1991). BAs such as putrescine cadaverine and

spermindine have been reported to be free radical scavengers (Yen and Kao, 1993). Tyramine possesses remarkable antioxidant activity due to the presence of amino and hydroxyl groups (Halász et al., 1994).

BAs in low concentrations are essential for many physiological functions, whereas in greater amounts can have toxicological effects. Several symptoms can be nausea, sweating, headache, hypo or hypertension, cardiac palpitations, and renal intoxication (Maijala, 1994; Halász et al., 1994). Certain classes of amines, tyramine, tryptamine, and phenylethylamine cause vasoconstriction; in contrast, others (histamine and serotonin) possess a vasodilatador effect (Önal, 2007). Some BAs (agmatine, spermine and spermidine) are potential precursors for the formation of carcinogenic N-nitroso compounds by reacting with nitrites and produce a range of labile N-nitroso products (Kim et al., 2009). Histamine is connected to a worldwide problem known to be an inducer of so called "scombroid fish poisoning", characterized by difficulty in breathing, itching, rash, vomiting, fever, and hypotension (Naila et al., 2010). A large dietary intake of tyramine can initiate migraines and hypertensive crises (McCabe-Sellers et al., 2006). Low levels of BAs in food are not considered as a serious risk because they are normally metabolized by the natural detoxification system present in the gastro-intestinal tract of mammalians to physiologically less active degradation products (Bodmer et al., 1999). However, upon ingesting greater levels of BAs, the detoxification system is unable to digest these sufficiently and hence they can be toxic. The determination of the exact toxicity threshold of BAs in humans is
difficult because the toxic dose strongly dependents on the efficiency of the particular detoxification status of each individual (Halász et al., 1994).

1.5 Production of gelatin

Gelatin is a product obtained from the acid, alkaline, or enzymatic hydrolysis of collagen, and is the chief protein component of animal skin, bones, and connective tissue, including fish and poultry (Bogue, 1922). Collagen is mainly found in connective tissues and bones of vertebrate animals (Guzelian et al., 1980). Pure, dry commercial-grade gelatin is a brittle solid, faintly yellow in color and nearly tasteless and odourless. It is soluble in highly polar, hydrogenbonding, organic solvents such as glycerol and propylene glycol, but is insoluble in less polar organic solvents such as benzene and acetone (Ward and Courts, 1977). Gelatin has a high molecular weight, and as a functional polymer is an important hydrocolloid. It is widely used in a range of products mainly due to its superior gelling and thickening properties (Mariod and Adam, 2013). From a nutritional perspective, unlike other popular hydrocolloids such as polysaccharides, gelatin is a digestible protein containing all essential amino acids except tryptophan (Yadav et al., 2015).

Native collagen molecules are composed of three α -chains intertwined in a collagen triple-helix. Glycine (Gly), proline (Pro) and hydroxyproline (HyPro) exist in large levels in collagen. The regular repetition of a Gly-X-Y unit forces the formation of a triple helix by intra- and inter-chain hydrogen bonding, where X is mostly Pro and Y is mostly HyPro (Asghar and Henrickson, 1982). Gly occupies the crowded center of the triple helix since it has a small side chain,

whereas Pro and Hypro point outwards and impart rigidity to the triple helix. Four to eight collagen molecules in cross-section constitute the basic unit of collagen fibrils, held together by covalent bonds. Cross-linking between collagen molecules reinforces and stabilizes the fibrils, and confers a structure typical of the strong rigid nature of skins, tendons and bones (Gómez-Guillén et al., 2011).

Gelatin can be made from many different sources of collagen, including cattle bones, hides, pigskins and fish, all which are principal commercial sources (Mariod and Adam, 2013). Pigskin is the most abundant source (Karim and Bhat, 2008); Figure 1.5 shows a representative production process for porcine skin gelatin (Wang and Shi, 2011). The insoluble native collagen must be pre-treated before converting it into a form suitable for extraction (Gómez-Guillén et al., 2011). A chemical pre-treatment disorganizes the protein structure to produce adequate swelling and solubilisation of gelatin achieved by breaking non-covalent bonds (Stainsby, 1987). Subsequent heat treatment destabilizes the triple-helix structure by cleaving the hydrogen and covalent bonds, giving rise to the helix-tocoil transition to solubilize the gelatin (Gómez-Guillén et al., 2002). Hence gelatin is a water-soluble substance, which involves the destruction of the tertiary, secondary, and to some extent the primary protein structures of collagens (Fernandez-Diaz et al., 2001). The yield and quality of gelatin are determined not only by the species or tissue from which it is extracted, but also by the extraction process, as a function of pH, temperature and extraction time (Montero and Gómez- Guillén, 2000).



Figure 1.5: Porcine skin gelatin production. Adapted from *Food and Bioproducts Processing*, 89(3), Wang Y. and Shi, B., "Concentration of gelatin solution with polyethersulfone ultrafiltration membranes", p. 164. Adapted with permission. Copyright 2010 by the institution of Chemical Engineers.

Two types of gelatins are known commercially as type-A and type-B gelatin obtained under acidic and alkaline pre-treatment conditions, respectively. Type A gelatin has an isoelectric range of 7 to 9; here the acid processing results in the limited hydrolysis of the asparagine and glutamine amino acid side chains (Cole 2000). Type B gelatin comes from collagen subjected to a caustic soda or lengthy lime process prior to extraction, and has an isoelectric point of 4.7 to 5.4 (Keenan, 1994). Gelatin in solution is amphoteric; in acidic solutions it is mainly positively charged, whereas in alkaline solutions gelatin it is mainly negatively charged. The quality of good food-grade gelatin is determined largely by its functional properties such as gel strength, viscosity and thermal stability (gelation and melting temperatures). Gel strength and viscosity are the main properties used for

grading any gelatin determined by performing a well-defined protocol at a given gelatin concentration (6.67%) under careful standardized conditions (Simon et al., 2003). Gel strength and thermal stability are mainly dependent on the amino acid composition and the molecular weight distribution of gelatin. The proportion of the proline and hydroxyproline particularly correlates with its melting and gellation temperature (Gómez-Guillén et al., 2002). Gelatin has been used as a gelling agent in various food applications and its ability to form thermoreversible gels has been the central focus of investigations. Gelatin forms gels similar to those of polysaccharide hydrocolloids by forming micro-structural network. During cooling, gelation occurs by physical cross-linking which leads to the formation of a three-dimensional branched network (Gilsenan and Ross-Murphy, 2000). Hydrophobic, hydrogen, and electrostatic bonds in the binding of gelatin molecules can be disrupted upon heating and hence converts the gel to a solution as the temperature rises to about 30°C to 40°C. This imparts its special property of melting in the mouth (Morimura et al., 2002). Gelatin has excellent foaming and emulsification properties due to the amphiphilic nature of its molecules (Zandi, 2008). In addition, gelatin contributes to the viscosity of the continuous phase of an emulsion and is able to delay the flocculation and coalescence (Djagny et al., 2001). All these unique functional properties of gelatin make it one of the most widely applied additives in the food industry, especially in desserts, candies, bakery, meat and dairy products.

1.6 Transglutaminase and gelatin

Introducing a more extensive covalent cross-link network within or between gelatin chains is an interesting field of research. This can be expected to create substantial changes in the functional properties of gelatin. One possibility that is acceptable in food area is using transglutaminase to catalyze covalent bonds. Babin and Dickinson (2001) evaluated the affect of MTGase on acid-processed gelatin gels and concluded that enzyme treatment could result in either a negative or positive effect on the thermoreversility of gelatins. The resultant effect depended on whether or not the 'chemical' covalent cross-linking was predominant over the 'physical' triple helix network of gelatin. The study found that a cold-set gelatin gel remained un-melted on heating to 40°C for very high gelatin and enzyme concentrations due to the predominant hindrance effect of the covalent crosslinks within and between the chains. Norziah et al. (2009) reported that the treatment with MTGase could be a practical way to modify the gel properties of extracted fish gelatin, since the gel strength increased by MTGase. Cross-linking by TGase of gelatins and other food proteins, such as soy protein isolate, has also been studied. Zhang et al. (2013) evaluated the functional properties of such modified product and showed that TGase-treated products had improved rheological properties due to the cross-linking formed. However, these products exhibited an impaired emulsifying activity since crosslinking greatly increased the molecular weights of the modified protein structures.

1.7 Research hypotheses and objectives

A review of the literature regarding TGase enzyme indicated a potential application to conjugate BAs with food proteins or peptides. Large amounts of BAs have been identified in various foods and their toxicological effect on humans has been documented. However, using an MTGase-aided reaction to reduce BAs has not been explored thoroughly. Heinrich Waelsch discovered animal TGase in 1957 together with collaborators Nirmal Sarkar and Donald Clarke. They speculated that TGase functioned possibly in histamine fixation. The first study which indicated such reaction indeed could occur and was performed with live mice by Ginsburg in 1963 (Ginsburg et al., 1963).

The covalent attachment of hisamine (HIS) and tyramine (TYR) into *N*benzyloxycarbonyl-L-glutaminylglycine (Z-Gln-Gly) peptide via the action of MTGase was investigated previously (Tams et al., 2011). This study indicated that these BAs are good acyl acceptor substrates. Furthermore, the antioxidant activity of aromatic amine TYR to quench free radicals has been well documented (Yen and Hsieh, 1997). Therefore, it is proposed to target BAs by binding them covalently to food proteins or peptides by an enzyme-catalyzed reaction. There is limited information available regarding the preparation, identification and characterization of these amine-protein or amine-peptide conjugates. This research produced and identified MTGase-mediated protein/peptide-amine conjugates and assessed their effects on the functionality and antioxidant activity of these modified proteins and peptides.

The following hypotheses were tested:

- The conjugation of proteins or peptides with BAs in the presence of MTGase can reduce the BA content and thus decrease their toxicity;
- MTGase-catalyzed amination of protein/peptide with TYR increases the antioxidant activity by introducing phenol structures into the food system;
- MTGase-catalyzed amination improves the specific protein functional properties due to the hydrophobic features of BAs.

To prove the hypotheses the following specific objectives were addressed:

- To incorporate HIS or TYR into alcalase-hydrolyzed pea protein isolate (PPH) with the aid of MTGase;
- To confirm the formation of PPH-HIS and PPH-TYR conjugates;
- To assess the effect of conjugation of TYR on the antioxidant activity of modified protein hydrolysates;
- To investigate the effect of MTGase-catalyzed TYR-gelatin conjugation on viscoelastic properties of modified porcine skin gelatin.

¹Chapter 2 (Study 1): Transglutaminase-catalyzed amination of pea protein peptides using biogenic amines and its effect on antioxidant activity ¹

2.1 Introduction

Biogenic amines (BAs), also known as biogenically active amines, are a group of low molecular weight organic bases that contain at least one primary amine group. They are mainly formed and degraded as a result of regular metabolic activity in animals, plants and microorganisms, and are usually produced through the decarboxylation of amino acids by corresponding amino acid decarboxylases (Shukla et al., 2011) or by amination and transamination of aldehydes and ketones (Santos, 1996). BAs can be found in a wide variety of foods, including fish, meat, cheese, vegetables, beers and wines. The most common types of BAs in food include heterocyclic histamine and tryptamine, aromatic tyramine and 2-phenylethylamine, and aliphatic cadaverine, spermine, spermidine, putrescine and tryptamine. Low levels of BAs in food are not considered a serious risk due to a gastro-intestinal detoxification system which is capable of metabolizing the normal dietary intake of BAs to physiologically less active degradation products (Stevanato et al., 2011). However, excessive amounts of BAs in food, especially in fermented food products, can cause health risks due to their pharmacological and toxicological effects. For instance, histamine (HIS) can induce so-called "scombroid fish poisoning", the allergy-like food borne disease (Bulushi et al., 2009), while tyramine (TYR) is responsible for a "cheese

¹ A version of this chapter has been submitted for publication in the Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture.

reaction", associated with a hypertensive crisis (McCabe-Sellers, 2006). Polyamines like putrescine and cadaverine, are considered potential precursors of carcinogens such as *N*-nitrosamines (Kim et al., 2009). To mitigate the negative impact of BAs and polyamines, technologies such as high temperature processing, high hydrostatic pressure (HHP), irradiation treatment, amine-negative starter cultures and the use of certain additives have been explored (Osborne and Bremer, 2000). However, the majority of these techniques proved not fully efficient. High levels of HIS were still found in thermally processed fish paste due to the heat stability of histamine. HHP reduced TYR, putrescine and cadaverine, but substantially increased the amount of spermidine in fermented sausages (Ruiz-Capillas et al., 2007). The use of additives including sodium sorbate, D-sorbitol and sodium nitrite can cause adverse effects due to lack of consumer acceptance (Naila et al., 2010). Thus, it is important to develop an inexpensive, foodcompatible method that can reduce BAs.

Transglutaminases (TGase, EC 2.3.2.13) are a group of enzymes are widely used for cross-linking proteins in the food industry. TGase catalyzes the acyltransfer between an acyl donor, like the γ -carboxamide group of peptide- or protein bound glutamine residues, and an acyl acceptor, including a variety of primary amines (Motoki and Seguro, 1998). This reaction modifies proteins either by forming intra- and intermolecular isopeptide bonds via ε -(γ -glutamyl-lysine) links or by the covalent attachment of amines, such as polyamine or putrescine (Colas et al. 1993). Microbial transglutaminase (MTGase) from *Streptomyces mobaraensis* is a Ca²⁺-independent enzyme used in various food applications due to its availability, ease of handling and stability over a wide range of pHs and temperatures (Zhu and Tramper, 2008). MTGsae has been exploited previously to covalently incorporate putrescine, spermine, and spermidine into glutaminyl residues in polypeptides (Williams-Ashman and Canellakis, 1979). Research has demonstrated that MTGase can fortify a protein source that is limited in essential amino acids (Ikura, 1985, Bercovici et al., 1987). Taking advantage of the nonspecificity of the acyl acceptor, Gundersen et al. (2014) demonstrated that MTGase could be used to incorporate small amines (i.e. cadaverine) into glycine and the esterified threenine, serine, cysteine, and tryptophan. Furthermore, Tams et al. (2011) demonstrated that HIS and TYR could be covalently bound to a Z-Gln-Gly peptide using MTGase. Therefore, it is possible that MTGase could be used to covalently attach BAs to food proteins or peptides and thus mitigate the negative toxicological effects of exogenous BAs. BAs-protein and peptides conjugates could be strategically created possessing custom functionalities and bioactivities. For instance, the glutamine-containing peptides could be conjugated with TYR, since the TYR possesses radical scavenging activity due to its phenol structure (Yen and Hsieh, 1997). To the best of our knowledge, no study has reported an enzyme-aided reaction to control BA production. More specifically MTGase has not been used to conjugate BAs to a food protein hydrolysate, nor has any study evaluated the antioxidant capacities of the resulting amine-peptide conjugates.

In our study pea protein isolate was used since it contains 16.5% of glutamine and glutamic acid (Pownall et al., 2010). Pea protein isolate is a good

candidate to use as a substrate for MTGase to detoxify food from BAs. Heterocyclic HIS and aromatic TYR were chosen as amine donors candidates because they are the most common BAs occurring in food as well as for their different structural features. The aim of this work was: (1) to study the possibility of the covalent incorporation of HIS or TYR into hydrolyzed pea protein isolates with the aid of MTGase, and (2) to evaluate the antioxidant power of the subsequent amine-peptide conjugates. The covalent attachment of BAs to PPH was evaluated by liquid chromatography, and antioxidant capacities were tested against DPPH radical and by the ability to inhibit lipid oxidation in a linoleic acid model system.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Materials

Pea protein isolate was obtained from Leduc Food Processing Development Centre (Edmonton, AB, Canada). Alcalase (protease from *Bacillus lichenifromis*, activity 2.4 units/g of protein), Flavourzyme (protease from *Aspergilluus oryzae*, activity 500 units/g of protein) were obtained from Novo Nordisk (Bagsvaerd, Denmark). Trypsin from porcine pancrease (EC 3.4.21.4), histamine dihydrochloride (HIS, \geq 98.0%), tyramine hydrochloride (TYR, \geq 98.0%), dansyl chloride (5-(dimethylamino) naphtalene-1-sulfonyl chloride, \geq 99.0%), ammonia (30%), DPPH (2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl), ammonium acetate (\geq 98.0%), linoleic acid, ammonium thiocyanate, ferrous chloride, butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT), acetonitrile and acetone were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). MTGase (Activa-TI, with an activity of 100 U/g, 1% MTGase blended in 99% maltodextrin) was purchased from Ajinomoto Food Ingredients (Eddyville, IA, USA). The crude enzyme's activity was tested by a transglutaminase assay kit (Sigma-Aldrich) and used without further purification. All other reagents were of analytical grade from Sigma-Aldrich or Fisher Scientific (Fair Lawn, NJ). Ultrapure water was obtained through a Millipore Milli-Q system (Milford, MA, USA).

2.2.2 Experimental design

Enzymatic hydrolysis of pea protein isolate was achieved with three different enzymes: alcalase, trypsin and Flavourzyme. Three independent batches were conducted for each enzyme and assays were performed in duplicate for each batch. Following this exploratory test, pea protein hydrolysate (PPH) produced using alcalase was selected for the preparation of PPH-BAs conjugates using MTGase. The hydrolysate was incubated with HIS in the presence of MTGase at 37°C for 6 h. Liquid chromatography with pre-column derivatization using dansyl chloride was performed to quantify the HIS left in the system after the enzymatic reaction, thus providing an indirect evaluation of the conjugation efficiency between PPH and HIS. Due to peptide interference during the chromatographic separation of PPH-TYR, the MTGase-induced conjugation of PPH with TYR was assessed measuring the changes in fluorescence emission. For this purpose, the PPH was incubated for 6 h with MTGase in the presence (+) or absence (-) of TYR (PPH -TYR (+) MTGase and PPH + MTGase, respectively) and the

fluorescence emission was then measured. Both untreated PPH and untreated TYR were included as controls. For fluorescence emission and antioxidant assays three independent trials were conducted, where in total 24 tubes were prepared (2 tubes \times 4 treatments (samples + controls)) on three different occasions, resulting in six replicates for each treatment. All trials were prepared on different days and tubes were randomized within the incubator.

2.2.3 Preparation of pea protein hydrolysates (PPH)

Pea protein hydrolysates were prepared according to Humishi et al. (2007) and Khiari et al. (2014) with (A) alcalase, pH 8.5, 50°C; (B) Flavourzyme, pH 7.0, 50°C and (C) trypsin, pH 7.0, 37°C. The pH and temperature values selected corresponded to optimal conditions for the enzymes. The hydrolysis reactions were performed using a pH-stat titration system (Metrohm Titrando 842; Software Tiamo 1.3, Herisau, Switzerland) equipped with a bath circulator (Haake S7, Fisher Scientific, Newington, NH, USA). Five percent (w/v) pea protein isolate solutions were dispersed in deionized water, adjusted to pH 8.0 with 1 M NaOH, and stirred for 15 min at 50°C. The enzymatic digestion was initiated by the addition of enzymes to attain the enzyme to substrate ratio of 1:50 (w/w) for each enzyme tested. The pH was maintained at 8.0 during the hydrolysis period using the pH-stat titrator. The aliquots were collected at 3, 6, 12, 18 and 21 h intervals and heated at 80°C for 10 min in a water bath (Isotemp 2320, Fisher Scientific, Marietta, OH) to inactivate the enzymes. Subsequently, the aliquots were cooled to $25 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C and centrifuged (Avanti, Beckman Coulter Inc., Palo Alto, CA, USA)

at 10,000 × g for 20 min at 4°C. The hydrolysates were then filtered using Whatman No. 1 filter paper (Sigma-Aldrich). The clear permeate solution was collected and passed through an ultrafiltration cartridge of 10 kDa molecular weight (MW) cut-off membrane (Amicon Ultra, Millipore, Cork, Ireland). The ultrafiltration was performed using a peristaltic pump (Masterflex, Model 7518-00, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Martham, MA, USA) in a closed loop with silicone tubing (Masterflex, Cle-Parmer Instrument Co.). The resulting retentate containing peptides with MW < 10 kDa was collected, lyophilized and stored at - 20°C for further analysis.

2.2.4 Determination of the degree of hydrolysis

The degree of hydrolysis (DH), defined as the percentage of peptide bonds cleaved, was calculated from the amount of base (NaOH) necessary to add to keep the pH constant during hydrolysis (Adler-Nissen, 1986):

DH % = 100×B×N_B× (1/ α) × (1/MP) × (1/h_{tot})

where *B* is the base consumption (mL); $N_{\rm B}$ is the molarity of the base; α is the average degree of dissociation of α -NH₂ groups released during hydrolysis and expressed as $\alpha = 10^{\rm pH-pK}(1+10^{\rm pH-pK})$, where pH and pK are the values at which proteolysis was conducted; M_p the mass of protein being hydrolyzed (g) and h_{tot} the total number of peptide bonds in the pea protein substrate (8.0 meq/g of protein).

2.2.5 MTGase amination of PPH with histamine (HIS)

Histamine (0.04 g) was dispersed in 100 mL of deionized water. PPH and

HIS in ratios of 1:1 (w/w) were mixed and pH was adjusted to 7.0. The samples were incubated (Innova 44 incubator shaker, New Brunswick Scientific, USA) at 37°C for 6 h with MTGase (10 unit/g PPH). At the end of incubation, samples were heated at 80°C for 10 min to inactivate MTGase's activity. Proof of PPH-HIS conjugation was evaluated using derivatization with dansyl chloride, followed by liquid chromatography-ultraviolet detection.

2.2.6 MTGase amination of PPH with tyramine (TYR)

PPH (0.4 g) were added to TYR at a weight ratio of 4:1 (w/w). Each of the weighed powders was dissolved in 40 mL of 0.1 M sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.0). The aliquots obtained were incubated at 37°C for 6 h with MTGase. PPH treated with MTGase upon 6 h incubation, untreated PPH and untreated TYR were also prepared as controls to ensure that changes in peptide properties are due to the incorporation of TYR. After incubation each sample solution was passed through the ultrafiltration system, using membrane filter cartridge with a molecular weight cut-off (MWCO) of 10 kDa (Amicon Ultra centrifugal filters, Millipore, Cork, Ireland) to remove MTGase, followed ultrafiltration with a MWCO membrane of 650 Da to remove unreacted TYR. At the end of the ultrafiltration system, the retentate of each sample was collected, lyophilized and stored at -20°C for further analysis. Proof of PPH-TYR conjugation was evaluated determining the changes in fluorescence emission spectrum.

38

2.2.7 Proof MTGase-catalyzed conjugation of PPH with HIS or TYR

To evaluate the extent of MTGase-catalyzed amination of PPH, HIS concentrations were evaluated before and after reaction using liquid chromatography in sections 2.2.7.1- 2.2.7.3. For the amination of PPH with TYR, fluorescence emission spectra profiles were evaluated as reported in the section 2.2.7.4.

2.2.7.1 Derivatization procedure

One milliliter of a sample solution (5-fold dilution) was mixed in a glass vial with 200 μ L of 2 M NaOH and 300 μ L of saturated sodium carbonate (Gong, 2014, Alberto et al., 2012). To finish the reaction, 2 mL of freshly prepared dansyl chloride solution (10 mg/mL in acetone) was added and the mixture was incubated at 40°C for 45 min in darkness. In order to remove residues of dansyl chloride, 100 μ L of ammonia was then added and the mixture was left to stand at 25°C for 30 min. Subsequently, the volume of the mixture was made up to 5 mL with acetonitrile and filtered through 0.22 μ m filters (Millipore Millex, Billerica, MA, USA) prior to HPLC injections.

2.2.7.2 High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) unit and operative conditions

Identification and quantification of PPH-HIS conjugates produced via MTGase reaction were carried out using HPLC Agilent 1100 system (Agilent Technologies, Inc., Santa Clara, CA, USA) consisting of a G-1312 binary pump, a G-1328A injector, a G-1322A degasser, and a G-1315A photodiode array detector (PDA), equipped with an Ascentis Express ES-C18 column (150 × 4.6 mm, 2.7 μ m particle size; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA). The column temperature and flow rate were maintained at 40°C ± 0.5 and 0.5 mL/min, respectively. The gradient elution system consisted of 0.1 M ammonium acetate (phase A) and acetonitrile (phase B) started at 20% B, increased via linear gradient to 75% B at 80 min, then returned to the initial composition within 10 min. The injection volume was 10 μ L and PDA data were recorded with a 200-600 nm range at a detection wavelength of 254 nm.

Histamine was identified by comparing its retention time and UV spectrum with that from a standard solution of an authentic sample, and quantified using a calibration curve obtained as reported below.

2.2.7.3 Quantitative analysis

A calibration curve for HIS was constructed by plotting peak area (y) vs. concentration for six concentration (x) levels. The standard stock solution was prepared by dissolving mixtures of PPH and HIS in ratios of 1:1 (w/w) to a 50 mL in 0.1 M HCl. The stock solution was diluted with a suitable amounts 0.1 M HCl to obtain final concentrations of 5, 10, 20, 40, 80, 160 µg/mL. Each diluted solution was subjected to a derivatization procedure as described in section 2.7.1 prior to HPLC analyses. A calibration curve was constructed by analyzing the resulting standard solutions by HPLC-UV at 254 nm. The correlation coefficient was $R^2 \ge 0.999$. The average limit of detection was calculated as 5.72 ± 0.19 µg/mL based on a signal-to-noise ratio of 3:1. The average limit of quantification was determined as 17.36 ± 0.59 µg/mL by assuming an S/N ratio of 10:1.

40

2.2.7.4 Evaluation of MTGase-amination of PPH with TYR by fluorescence spectroscopy

Fluorescence analyses were performed using a Spectramax M5 multimode microplate reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA, USA). Lyophilized samples were dissolved in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) to a final concentration of 1.5 mg/mL. The solutions were excited at 280 nm (slit width 10 nm) and the emission intensity was recorded from 300 to 550 nm using 1 cm path-length quartz cuvette (Suprasil, Fisher Scientific, Pittsburg, PA) at a 500 nm/min. A buffer blank was subtracted from all spectra automatically by software.

2.2.8 Evaluation of antioxidant activity by DPPH radical scavenging activity assay

DPPH test was used to assess the ability of PPH-TYR conjugates to transfer labile H atoms to DPPH radical, a likely mechanism of antioxidant protection (Goupy, 2003). The experimental conditions used were adapted from Braca et al. (2002): DPPH was dissolved in methanol to a final concentration of 200 μ M. The lyophilized sample (100 μ L) was thoroughly mixed with 100 μ L of the DPPH solution in the 96-well plate to a final assay concentration of 10 mg/mL. Each mixture was incubated at 25°C in the dark for 30 min and the absorbance at 517 nm was measured using a Spectramax M5 microplate reader. DPPH test for untreated PPH and untreated TYR solutions (from 0.1 to 20 mg/mL) with increasing concentrations was also conducted and the plot of absorbance vs. concentration was established. The radical scavenging activity was expressed as a percent of relative activity (% RSA) and calculated with the following equation:

% RSA =
$$((A_{control} - A_{test}) / A_{control}) \times 100$$
,

where $A_{control}$: absorbance of the control (DPPH only). A_{test} : absorbance of the test subject (test sample + DPPH).

2.2.9 Inhibition of linoleic acid oxidation

The antioxidant activity of PPH-TYR conjugates was determined by measuring the percent inhibition of peroxidation in linoleic acid system (He et al., 2013; Hong et al., 2014). A 2.0 mL aliquot of the lyophilized sample (at final concentration of 1 mg/mL) was dissolved in 1.5 mL of 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) and the mixture was added to 1.5 mL of 50 mM linoleic acid that was dissolved in 99.5% ethanol. For the blank assay, 2.0 mL of buffer was added to the ethanolic linoleic acid solution. BHT (2 mM) was used to replace sample and referred to a positive control. The tubes with reaction mixtures were sealed tightly with silicone rubber caps and kept at 60°C in the dark for 7 d. The degree of oxidation was measured at every 24 h interval by the ferric thiocyanate method (Osawa and Namiki, 1981). A 100 µl sample of the assay solution was removed from the test tube and mixed with 100 μ l of ammonium thiocyanate (30%, w/v), 100 µl of 200 mM ferrous chloride dissolved in 1 M HCl and 4.7 mL of 75% aqueous ethanol. After the mixture has been stirred for 5 min, 200 µl aliquot was transferred to a clear bottom 96-well plate. The degree of color development was measured as increase in absorbance at 500 nm using a Spectramax M5 multimode

microplate reader. The capacity to inhibit the peroxide formation in linoleic acid was calculated as (%) inhibition = $((A_{blank}-A_{test}) / A_{blank}) \times 100$ where A_{blank} was the absorbance of the blank reaction and A_{test} was the absorbance

of sample or BHT.

2.2.10 Statistical analyses

Data are reported as mean \pm standard deviation of the three independent experiments. The effect of hydrolysis period and type of enzyme on the DH was analyzed by two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) using the PROC MIXED procedure of SAS (v. 9.4, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). The model, in this case, tested the hydrolysis approach (Alcalase, Trypsin, Flavourzyme) and hydrolysis period (3, 6, 12, 18, 21h) were considered fixed effects. Hydrolysis data (DH) were fitted to a non-linear curve using GraphPad Prism 4 (GraphPad Software, Inc. San Diego, CA) with an R^2 from 0.981 to 0.987. Spectroscopic profiles obtained from the fluorescence analyses from three independent trials were averaged and reported as graphs. Data obtained from DPPH and linoleic acid oxidation activity were analyzed by one-way ANOVA. For both models (1and 2-way ANOVA), post-hoc analysis for significance was obtained using Tukey's HSD (p < 0.05).

2.3 Results and Discussions

2.3.1 Extent of enzymatic modifications of pea protein hydrolysates

The degree of hydrolysis (DH) is generally used as a proteolysis monitoring parameter and is the most common indicator when comparing hydrolysis

efficiency and progress (Gíménez et al., 2009). For this study, Flavourzyme was chosen as being industrial peptidase and due to production of antioxidative or radical scavenging peptides from rapeseed (Xue et al., 2009) or tilapia proteins (Raghavan et al., 2008). Hydrolysis with Alcalase was also reported to produce zein hydrolysate with antioxidant potential (Zhu et al., 2008), while Trypsin hydrolysates inhibited lipid peroxidation in fish (Nagash and Nazeer, 2013). The effects of enzymes and treatments periods on DH of pea protein isolate are shown in Figure 2.1. Pea protein was hydrolyzed using three commercial enzymes at their optimal temperature and pH and the process of hydrolysis was monitored for 21 h using pH-stat. A typical hydrolysis curve obtained under experimental conditions showed that an increase in hydrolysis time resulted in a greater (p < p(0.05) DH for all enzymes tested (Figure 2.1). The use of Flavourzyme and Trypsin led to the production of PPH with no more than 10.7% of DH by 21 h, while the greater (p < 0.05) DH of 24.8% was obtained when hydrolyzed with Alcalase. The results agree with an earlier study on enzymatic hydrolysis of different protein substrates, including fish (Dong et al., 2008; Ovissipour et al., 2012), whey (Mutilangi et al., 1995) and wheat gluten (Kong et al., 2007). This could be because Alcalase and Flavourzyme hydrolyze proteins in different manner. Alcalase is an endo-peptidase, therefore cleaves peptide bonds at the interior of the polypeptide chain and produces mainly small to medium-size oligopeptides/polypeptides (Adler-Nisen, 1986), while Flavourzyme is a mixture of endo- and exo-peptidase. It was also established that alkaline proteases, including alcalase, exhibit higher activities than do acid or neural proteases such

as Flavourzyme (Rebeca et al., 1991). DH significantly increased for Alcalase hydrolysis at 18 h reaching a value of 24.2 %. Prolonged hydrolysis time over 12 h did not significantly increase DH, possibly due to substrate limitation, enzyme inhibition by the end product or a decline in peptide bonds available for hydrolysis (Phengnuam et al., 2013). Such a behaviour is considered typical for enzymatic reactions and has been demonstrated for commercial proteases, including Alcalase and Flavourzyme, acting on protein derived from different legumes (Kim et al. 1990; Betancur-Acona et al. 2009). Therefore, the hydrolysis of pea protein isolate with Alcalase for 18 h was found the most suitable and used for further analyses.



Figure 2.1: Time course of proteolytic degradation of pea protein isolate obtained by three different enzymes: Alcalase, Trypsin and Flavourzyme at 1:50 (w/w) enzyme/substrate ratio. Protein concentration was 5% (w/v). Each data point is the mean of 2 determinations from three independent batches. Vertical bars represent standard deviations (n = 6). Different letters represent significant differences (p < 0.05). The data were fitted on a curve with a non-linear model using GraphPad Prism graph-plotting program.

2.3.2 Evidence of PPH-HIS conjugation by liquid chromatography

To demonstrate that the conjugation of HIS to PPH was possible, HIS quantification was performed before and after MTGase-catalyzed reaction. Various methods for accurate and efficient determination of BAs have been developed, and HPLC is by far the most frequently used, owning to its superior sensitivity. Derivatization of the amino group is commonly performed to reduce the polarity of amines and also to provide a chromophore UV or fluorescent detection (Mayr and Schieberle, 2011), with dansyl chloride or benzoyl chloride being the most common derivatizing agents for HPLC analyses.

During a preliminary experiment, similar retention times were observed for dansylated derivatives of TYR and peptides in PPH; this made their identification not accurate. On the contrary, when HIS was dansylated no interferences from the peptides were observed. Since close elution or co-elution may result in lack of resolution for a peak of interest or interfere with compound quantification, proof of PPH-BAs conjugation via MTGase was tested using HIS. Figure 2.2A shows the RP-HPLC chromatograms of six standard solutions of HIS. It clearly indicated that all tested standards were completely separated by the applied elution method. Dansyl chloride - derivatized HIS eluted at the retention time of 61 min and was assigned as "HIS". The presence of other peaks during the separation was noticed in the chromatograms; however they did not interfere with the identification of HIS derivatives. The results indicate that the proposed derivatization and HPLC analytical method can be applied for quantification of HIS. Figure 2.2B shows the representative HPLC chromatograms of the treatment PPH-HIS (+) MTGase and

the controls (PPH-HIS, PPH (+) MTGase, and PPH only). The chromatogram showed there was no HIS peak detected at the retention time of 61 min in both PPH (+) MTGase and PPH samples. The HIS peak area decreased after the MTGase treatment. As shown in Figure 2.2C, the concentration of HIS decreased from 80.0 to 19.0 μ g/mL (76.3% reduction), indicating the formation of peptides-HIS conjugates (amination). These results confirm that MTGase can be used conjunction with glutamine containing peptides as a tool to reduce the concentration of BAs in food. It was of interest to understand if the BA-peptide conjugation has an effect on the bioactivity of peptides, like for instance, the antioxidant activity.



Retention Time (min)



Figure 2.2: Chromatograms of dansylated derivatives of HIS detected at 254 nm. (A) Standard solutions of HIS at 5 (1); 10 (2); 20 (3); 40 (4); 80 (5); 160 (6) μ g/mL and (B) PPH, PPH-HIS, PPH (+) MTGase and PPH-HIS (+) MTGase incubated at 37°C for 6 h. Peak designated as 'HIS' refers to a dansylated histamine.

2.3.3 Evidence of PPH-TYR conjugation by fluorescence spectroscopy

As previously reported, proof of PPH amination through MTGase-catalyzed reaction was demonstrated to be possible by determining unreacted HIS concentration using liquid chromatography; applying the same approach using TYR as a primary amine was excluded due to interferences from peptides. Another way to indirectly evaluate the formation of PPH-TYR conjugates would be by using a spectroscopic technique, like fluorescence emission. TYR is a fluorescent and aromatic molecule; therefore its conjugation to a protein or peptides should influence their fluorescence emission pattern. For instance, the intrinsic fluorescence spectrum of a protein is mainly determined on the level of exposure of aromatic amino acids to the reaction solvent, therefore its structural

conformation can be effectively monitored using changes in the intensity and maximum wavelength of fluorescence signal of tryptophan (Trp) and tyrosine (Tyr) (Valeur and Berberan-Santos, 2012). To confirm the formation of PPH-TYR conjugates via the action of MTGase, the intrinsic fluorescence was thus monitored and the results presented in Figure 2.3. PPH exhibited a broad peak with a maximum intensity ranging from 340-360 nm, a typical fluorescence profile for Trp when exposed to an aqueous solution (Lakowicz, 2013). When MTGase was added to PPH, a slight decrease in FI in treatments upon 6 h incubation was observed. This indicates that some of the Trp chromophores were exposed to a more polar environment at 6 h reaction in the presence of MTGase. This seems to be in contrast with results for whey (Agyare and Damodaran, 2010) or soybean protein isolate (Jiang and Zhao, 2010), where higher fluorescence intensities (FI) were observed for MTGase treatments and was attributed to a decrease in the exposure of buried aromatic groups to the solvent as a consequence of the cross-linking reaction between proteins. Sample PPH-TYR (+) MTGase resulted in a hypsochromic shift of the λ_{max} and display at 310 nm and the highest emission. This infers that the incorporation of TYR into PPH causing pronounced effects on the structural rearrangement of the hydrolysates. This demonstrates that amination of PPH may induce a partial folding of peptides to bury previously exposed hydrophobic molecules (i.e. TYR), consequently leading to an increase in the relative fluorescence intensity (Tang et al., 2005). To exclude the interference of the unreacted TYR on the results observed, a solution containing the same amount of TYR was subjected to ultrafiltration system as

reported in section 2.6 and the fluorescence profile of this treatment (TYR) was presented in Figure 2.3 and exhibited a λ_{max} at 310 nm. A very low FI of the TYR control (500 FI) indicates its effective removal by ultrafiltration and thus validating that the observed spectra changes were likely due to amination.



Figure 2.3: Fluorescence spectra profiles of PPH-TYR conjugates obtained in the presence of MTGase and control treatments (PPH, PPH + MTGase, TYR). Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n = 6) and expressed in arbitrary units (A.U.). FI refers to fluorescence intensity.

2.3.4 DPPH radical scavenging activity

DPPH is a relatively stable radical that is widely used to evaluate the antioxidant activity of different compounds (Bougatef et al., 2009). The

antioxidant compound could scavenge the radical by donating H and convert it to a stable diamagnetic molecule DPPH-H, followed by the reduction in absorbance (Prior et al., 2005). Figure 2.4A illustrates that ultrafiltrated PPH exhibited 41.1% RSA. PPH showed a concentration-dependent scavenging activity against DPPH radicals with the scavenging capacity increasing with increasing concentration (Figure 2.4B). This is consistent with a study testing canola hydrolysates (Cumby et al., 2008). Furthermore, in the present study, the scavenging activity of 1 mg/mL of PPH was greater (Figure 2.4B) as compared to a previous report that also used alcalase proteases on pea protein isolate (Humiski and Aluko, 2007). These authors have also shown that PPH showed a stronger activity (11%) after hydrolysis by Flavourzyme. A decrease (34.1 %) in scavenging activity was observed in MTGase-treated hydrolysates without TYR when compared to that of untreated PPH. A number of studies have demonstrated that the antioxidant activity of protein hydrolysates depends on their molecular weight distribution (Peña-Ramos et al., 2004; Li et al., 2008; Su et al., 2011). Here peptide fractions with smaller molecular weight were associated with higher antioxidant activity. Our results indicate that MTGase-mediated cross-linking reaction can decrease the proportion of low molecular weight peptides, thus reduce their radical scavenging ability.

Like most synthetic and natural antioxidants, the structural feature responsible for the radical scavenging activity of TYR is the phenol ring. BAs such as dopamine and TYR function as strong free radical inhibitors (Yen and Hsieh, 1997). As expected, the presence of TYR provided a scavenging activity of 44.6 and 56.1% at 2.5 and 5 mg/mL, respectively (Figure 2.4B). However, as reported in the previous section, ultrafiltration was able to remove the majority of the unreacted TYR. Furthermore, a control solution of TYR reduced the DPPH value to 7.6% after ultrafiltration. This is equivalent to a TYR concentration of 0.16 mg/mL, corresponding to a 94% reduction from the original concentration. Among all treatments, the greatest (52.3%) scavenging activity was found in PPH -TYR (+) MTGase treatment, suggesting that the incorporation of TYR into PPH through MTGase increased the radical scavenging capacity of the PPH. Hence, conjugation of BAs to PPH not only has the potential to reduce their toxicity, but also represents the creation of novel peptides with an improved antioxidant activity.



Figure 2.4: DPPH free radical scavenging activities of (A) PPH-TYR conjugates produced via MTGase and control treatments (PPH, PPH + MTGase, TYR). The vertical bars represent the standard deviation (n = 6) of each data point. Different letters above the bars represent significant differences (p < 0.05). (B) A plot of TYR and PPH concentration (mg/mL) vs. DPPH scavenging activity (% RSA).

2.3.5. Inhibition of linoleic acid oxidation

The effect of MTGase amination on antioxidant activity of PPH was also tested using the ferric thiocyanate method to measure the peroxidation of linoleic acid. During linoleic acid peroxidation, peroxides are formed and are able to induce oxidation of Fe^{2+} to Fe^{3+} , the later forms a colored complex with ammonium thiocyanate, which has a maximum absorbance at 500 nm (Sultana and Przybylski, 2007). Therefore, the degree of linoleic acid oxidation is directly proportional to the absorbance intensity. A lower absorbance of reaction complexes represents a greater degree of inhibition of linoleic acid oxidation. As shown in Figure 2.5, the blank solution (0.1 M phosphate buffer) showed a rapid increase in the absorbance and reached a maximum value on the fourth day, indicating the maximum formation of linoleic acid peroxides. Subsequently, a gradual decline started as the incubation period progresses suggesting the instability and decomposition of peroxides into secondary lipid oxidation products (Jayaprakasha et al., 2001; Chen et al., 2007). TYR is credited with a strong antioxidant effect on the peroxidation of linoleic acid, similar to α -tocopherol (Yen and Hsieh, 1997). The ultrafiltrated TYR treatments were more effective against linoleic acid oxidation at all incubation times as compared to that of the blank solution. Previous studies reported that peptides containing hydrophobic amino acids produced by alcalase hydrolysis exhibited a strong lipid oxidation inhibition (Hong et al., 2014). PPH samples showed a 49.1% reduction in lipid oxidation at 2 d of incubation compared to the blank. However at day 4 the percent of inhibition decreased to only 23.7% compared to day 2. It is possible

55

that PPH peptides gradually lose the ability to adequately prevent free radical formation with continuous incubation (Alashi et al., 2014). A greater percentage of inhibition in PPH + MTGase treatment was observed at all incubation times as compared to PPH, suggesting that cross-links-induced conformational alterations via MTGase reaction increased the ability to reduce lipid oxidation. The greatest inhibitory effects of PPH-TYR (+) MTGase samples (Figure 2.5) were evident at all incubation times relative to the other treatments, with the only exception being the positive control containing the synthetic antioxidant BHT. These effects are likely due the introduction of TYR into the peptide sequences. The results are in line with the DPPH results and suggest that amination of PPH increases the overall antioxidant activity.



Figure 2.5: Inhibition of linoleic acid oxidation by PPH-TYR conjugates produced via MTGase and control treatments (PPH, PPH + MTGase, TYR). Measurements were performed over time from 0 to 7 d and recorded at absorbance of 500 nm. Data represent the mean of three independent experiments. Bars with different letters are significantly different (p < 0.05).

2.4 Conclusions

Biogenic amines are able to conjugate to pea protein hydrolysates using MTGase-mediated enzymatic reaction; hence reduction of their toxicity can be achieved. The conjugation of tyramine via MTGase also improved the ability of the pea protein hydolysate to scavenge free radicals and reduce linoleic acid peroxidation. The method presented in this study represents a practical solution to reduce levels of biogenic amines in food and beverages, and at the same time produce novel chemical compounds with antioxidant capacity to control lipid oxidation.

²Chapter 3 (Study 2): Incorporating tyramine with transglutaminase weakens gelatin gels – a rheological investigation ²

3.1 Introduction

Gelatin is a denatured fibrous protein made by the partial hydrolysis of collagen, a major component of animal connective tissues. During the production of gelatin, many bonds break randomly and the resulting gelatin represents a broad spectrum of smaller molecular fragments, as well as larger unhydrolyzed main chains (Kaur et al., 2002). Commercial gelatins for food consumption are mainly derived from bovine bones and porcine skins due to their low cost and availability (Cho et al., 2005). Gelatin's unique properties are highly regarded in food manufacturing; as an additive it can improve functional properties of food products due to its elasticity, consistency and stability (Hashim et al., 2010). The quality of a gelatin depends largely on its rheological properties, which are normally characterized by gel strength, gel elasticity, gelation point and gel melting point (Karim and Bhat, 2009). Gelatin has accessible functional groups which can be coupled with various cross-linkers or targeting-ligands to bear multiple modification opportunities (Elzoghby et al., 2012). Introducing these chemical cross-links, or a combination of cross-linking agents within or between gelatin chains, is a mean of manipulating the characteristics of any given gelatin. This approach has been reported in earlier studies for maltodextrin (Kasapis et al., 1993), gellan (Wu et al., 2001) and caffeic acid (Mohtar et al., 2014).

 $^{^{2}}$ A version of this chapter has been submitted for publication in the LWT – Food Science and Technology.

Incorporation of these multifunctional molecules into gelatin chains leads to a three-dimensional covalently cross-linked network with altered rheological properties.

Tyramine (TYR) is one of the most important biogenic amines (BAs) naturally present in a variety of foods and beverages (Spano et al., 2010). As reported in a previous research (Lu et al., 2016), this aromatic and antioxidant BA can be incorporated into pea protein peptides using a GRAS (generally recognized as safe) microbial enzyme - transglutaminase (MTGase). MTGase is a Ca²⁺independent enzyme industrially produced from the Streptoverticillium species. It catalyzes an acyl transfer reaction between the γ -carboxyamide of peptide- or protein-bound glutamine and the ε -amino group of lysyl residues. It also catalyzes aminolysis of the γ -carboxamide group of peptide-bound glutamine residues by the variety of primary amines (Han and Damodaran, 1996). A recent report also highlighted the high reactivity of MTGase for the incorporation of the aromatic TYR into protein in model systems (Gundersen et al., 2014). In this context, we anticipate that MTGase would introduce TYR onto glutamine residues of gelatin and alter its functionality. The action of MTGase has been demonstrated to be largely responsible for cross-linking gelatins (Fuchsbauer et al., 1996; Dickinson and Yamamoto, 1996; Lim et al., 1999; Crescenzi et al., 2002), but, to the best of our knowledge, no information is available on the MTGase-catalyzed amination of gelatin, and its subsequent specific effects on rheological properties. It is hypothesized that incorporation of BAs into the gelatin molecule would affect the gel network formation during the cooling phase. The TYR conjugation would
increase surface hydrophobicity of the gelatin and thus may induce the faster formation of hydrogen bonding of gelatin chains (inter-molecular hydrogen bonds) to speed up gel formation. This faster reaction would be desirable in gelatin applications in both the food and pharmaceutical industries. On the other hand, the incorporation of TYR could decrease inter-molecular hydrogen bonds due to steric hindrance and protein folding. In this case the formation of intrahydrogen bonds would be dominant over the inter-molecular ones, and as a consequence, the gelatin chains would fold in such a manner to reduce the interactions of between the gelatin chains thus negatively affecting the rheological properties. The overall aim of this study was to evaluate and compare the viscoelastic properties of aqueous MTGase-treated gelatin dispersions in the presence or absence of TYR. It was important to understand the impact of incorporating TYR on rheological characteristics of gelatin.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Materials

Commercial gelatin extracted from porcine skin (type A) was from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Gelatin prepared by acid treatment (type A) and not by the base treatment (type B) was chosen, because treatment with base hydrolyzes the amide groups of glutamine residues and thus suppresses enzymatic reactions (Crescenzi et al. 2002). Tyramine hydrochloride (TYR, \geq 98.0%), N-Benzyloxycarbonyl-L-Glutaminylglycine (Z-Gln-Gly), L-glutamic acid γ monohydroxamate and hydroxylamine were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. MTGase (Activa-TI; 99% maltodextrin and 1% MTGase) was from Ajinomoto Food Ingredients (Eddyville, IA). All other chemicals and reagents were from Sigma-Aldrich or Fisher Scientific (Fair Lawn, NJ, USA) and were of analytical grade.

3.2.2 Experimental Design

Porcine skin gelatin (G) solutions were used at final concentrations of 5% and 6.67% (w/v) and were subjected to TYR amination through MTGase catalysis reactions conducted at 50°C for 4 h. The latter concentration of gelatin is typical for determining the "Bloom" strength measurement. Two concentrations of TYR (0.5 and 1% w/w) were added to the gelatin solutions in the presence or absence of MTGase. Thus, for each of the two gelatin concentrations 6 treatments were produced: a control gelatin without MTGase and Tyr (G), a treatment of gelatin and MTGase (G + MTGase), a treatment of gelatin, MTGase and addition of 0.5% TYR (G + MTGase + 0.5% TYR) and its respective control (G + 0.5 % TYR), a treatment of gelatin, MTGase + 1% TYR (G + MTGase + 1% TYR) and its respective control (G + 1% TYR). The whole experiment was repeated three independent times using gelatin from different batches. For each trial two tubes per treatments (including controls) were incubated at 50°C for 4 h.

3.2.3 Determination of enzyme activity

MTGase activity was measured using CB

Z-Gln-Gly and hydroxylamine as substrates following the method of Folk (1970) with some modifications. The final 0.23 mL reaction mixture contained

174 mM Tris buffer, 31 mM CBZ-Gln-Gly, 87 mM hydroxylamine, 8.7 mM glutathione (reduced form), 4 mM calcium chloride and 0.06 unit transglutaminase. The reaction mixture was incubated at 37°C and 50°C for 10 min and terminated by adding 500 µl of ferric chloride/trichloroacetic acid reagent (0.7% w/v). After centrifugation for 5 min at 1000 × g, the absorbance of the resulting supernatant was recorded at 525 nm (V-530, Jasco Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). L-glutamic acid- γ -monohydroxamic acid was used as a standard for calibration. One unit of enzyme activity was equivalent to a change in absorbance of 0.29/min at 525 nm, corresponding to the formation of 1 µmol of hydroxamate/min from CBZ-Gln-Gly and hydroxylamine at pH 6.0. The enzyme MTGase activity was expressed as the initial reaction rate (U/g) determined for the maximum slope of the plot of absorbance versus time.

3.2.4 Preparation of the gelatin treatments

Gelatin solutions were prepared by dissolving gelatin powder in Milli-Q water to obtain a final concentration of 5 and 6.67% (w/v). Gelatin + TYR solutions were prepared by adding different amounts of TYR into each gelatin solutions to achieve final TYR concentrations of 0.5 and 1.0% (w/w).

For the enzymatic treatments, MTGase was dissolved in Milli-Q water to prepare a stock solution of 10 mg/mL. Any insoluble particles were removed by centrifugation at 1000 \times g for 5 min. Enzyme stock solutions were prepared freshly for use. MTGase activity was determined as described in Section 2.3 and obtained 45 U/g at 50°C. Adequate volumes (~100 µL) of MTGase stock solution were added to each G + TYR solutions to achieve a final enzyme activity of 0.2 U/g gelatin. Samples were named as G + MTGase + 0.5% TYR and G + MTGase + 1% TYR, respectively. The quantity (0.2 U/g) of MTGase and the reaction temperature of 50°C were chosen based on a preliminary study, where higher level of enzyme (> 0.2 U/g protein) and lower reaction temperature (37°C) led to the inability of enzyme-treated gelatins to undergo characteristic thermally reversible transitions.

All gelatin treatments (including controls) preparations were incubated at 50°C for 4 h. After incubation, the enzymatic treatments were heated to 80°C for 10 min to inactivate MTGase enzyme and cooled to the room temperature. Obtained samples were stored at 4°C prior to the rheological analyses.

3.2.5 Dynamic viscoelastic measurements

Small deformation viscoelasticity was investigated by dynamic oscillatory rheometry using a Physica MCR 301 rheometer (Anton Paar GmbH, Ashland, VA) according to Du et al. (2013). A stainless steel flat plate (25 mm diameter) was lowered to form a gap of 0.5 mm. Oscillatory measurements were performed at a fixed frequency of 1 Hz and a strain amplitude of 0.5%, which was within the linear viscoelastic region (LVR) as determined by the preliminary tests. To optimize for LVR, the frequencies were tested from 0.01 to 10 Hz, while the strain sweeps were performed from 0.1 to 10%. To prevent excessive evaporation, an Anton Paar H-PTD200 hood was used. Each treatment was heated to 45°C for 10 min in a water bath and the 1 mL gelatin solution was transferred to the

rheometer, where the temperature maintained at 45°C to allow for equilibration. The temperature was decreased from 45°C to 10°C at a rate of 2°C/min. The evolution of G' (storage modulus, a measure of elastic rigidity) and G'' (loss modulus, a measure of the viscous rigidity) were recorded simultaneously through the cooling and presented as a function of temperature. The gelation temperature of treatment was defined as the temperature at which the G' increased above that of the G'' (the G'/G'' cross over point) (Nijenhuis, 1981).

To ensure the formation of gel networks, the gels were also kept for 3 h at 10°C. During this time, time sweep measurements were conducted at a constant strain of 0.5% and a constant frequency of 1 Hz. The evolution of G' (Pa) over time during the holding phase of gelation was fitted to a logarithmic equation according to Fonkwe et al. (2003):

$$G_{\rm t} = K_{\rm gel} \ln \left(t_{\rm gel} \right) + C \qquad (1)$$

 $G_{\rm t}$ is the value of G' at time t, C is a constant, t_{gel} is gelation time and $K_{\rm gel}$ is the gelation rate constant.

A frequency sweep measurements were performed to characterize the crosslinking behavior of the gelatin at a constant strain of 0.5% and a constant temperature of 10°C. G' and G'' (Pa) were both measured over a frequency range from 0.01 to 10 Hz. All tests were performed within the identified LVR. The evaluation of the gel strength was based on the frequency response of gel samples. The storage compliance J', like the storage moduli, reflects the propensity of a sample to retain a supplied mechanical energy and to restore it in the form of an elastic strain (Gnanou and Fontanille, 2008). J' was evaluated in as described by Fonkwe et al. (2003):

$$J' = \frac{G'}{G'^2 + G''^2} \tag{2}$$

The gel strength G_N was obtained according to Ferry (1980):

$$G_N = \frac{1}{J'} \tag{3}$$

At the end of the frequency sweep, the temperature of the treatment gel was increased back from 10° C to 45° C at a rate of 2° C/min.

3.2.6 Statistical analyses

Data are reported as mean \pm standard deviation of the three independent experiments. The effect of MTGase amination on gelatin's gelation temperatures and melting temperatures was analyzed by three-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) using the PROC MIXED procedure of SAS (v. 9.4, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). The model, in this case, tested gelatin solution concentrations (5%, 6.67% (w/v)), tyramine concentrations (0.5 and 1% (w/w)) and presence/absence of MTGase were considered fixed effects. The effect of MTGase amination of gelatin's gel rate and gel strength was determined by oneway analysis of variance (ANOVA) using the PROC ANOVA procedure of SAS. For both models, post-hoc analysis for significance was obtained using Tukey's HSD (p < 0.05). Graphing of gelation temperatures and melting temperatures of treatments were conducted using GraphPad Prism 4 (GraphPad Software, Inc. San Diego, CA).

3.3.1 Effect of MTGase amination on gelatin's gelation temperature

The temperature of gelation (T_{gel}) is one of the most important functional attributes associated with the applications of gelatins for food manufacturing. The temperature at which G'/G'' cross over represents the transition phase from a liquid to a more solid-like material occur during cooling of gelatin (Gudmundsson, 2002). This transition involves the formation of triple helical sequences randomly connected by hydrogen bonds (Crescenzi et al. 2002). The gelation temperatures of the different treatments are shown in Figure 3.1. In general, the treatment with 6.67% gelatin resulted in a higher gelation temperature than the ones produced using 5% gelatin. This is likely due to the greater concentration of proline (Pro) and hydroxyproline (HyPro) in the 6.67% treatment; it is known that the content of Pro and HyPro affect thermal and rheological properties including melting and gelling temperatures of gelatin (Cheow et al., 2007), where the higher contents of Pro and HyPro result in higher gelling and melting temperature of gelatin (Haug et al., 2004). A previous study from Sarbon et al. (2015) has also shown that increasing concentrations of chicken skin gelatin from 3, 5 and 10% increased gelling temperatures to 21.0, 23.3 and 27.2°C, respectively.

The addition of MTGase alone (G + MTGase) led to an increase in gelation temperatures and was observed at 24.1 and 27.6°C, respectively for 5 and 6.67% gelatin, respectively. Moreover, 6.67% G + MTGase produced a gel with the highest gelling temperature among all of the treatments tested. This indicates that

cross-linking of gelatin occurred via the action of MTGase. The effect of MTGase on the T_{gel} of the control treatment at 5% G + MTGase was not statistically different compared to the T_{gel} of control treatment 6.67% G. This suggests that the addition 0.2 U/g MTGase can replace an equivalent amount of 1.67% gelatin relative to the gelation temperature. The earlier onset of gelation for MTGasetreated gelatin compared to the other treatments may indicate the formation of covalent cross-links within or between gelatin chains, hence reduced the time required for gelation. These observations are in agreement with the MTGasecatalyzed gelation of fish gelatins (cod and hake) (Fernandez-Diaz et al., 2001) and surimi extracted fish gelatin (Norziah et al., 2009). The T_{gel} of treatments G + MTGase + 0.5% TYR and G + MTGase + 1% TYR were not significantly different as compared to gelatin alone (G) at both concentrations. This means that the MTGase-catalyzed amination with TYR is not effective in changing the gelation temperature of pig gelatin compared to the control treatments. The addition of TYR to the G + MTGase treatment negatively affects the cross-linking reactions between the gelatin chains. This is likely due to the competition of the different sources of amino groups (lysine vs. tyramine) as a substrate for MTGase. When an exogenous source of $-NH_2$ groups is provided by adding TYR, it shifts the reaction towards gelatin amination rather than gelatin cross-linking, which involves the acyl group of a glutamine and the ε -NH₂ group of a lysine.



Figure 3.1: Gelation temperatures (T_{gel}) of treatments with gelatin concentrations of 5 and 6.67% (w/v). The values were obtained during cooling of the respective treatments from 45 to 10°C. Data are presented as mean ± standard deviation (n = 6). Values with different alphabets are significantly different (p < 0.05).

3.3.2 Effect of MTGase amination of gelatin on storage (G') and loss modulus (G'')

The changes of the storage modulus (*G'*), the loss modulus (*G''*) and the phase angle (δ) during gelatin temperature sweep are presented in Figure 3.2. During the cooling phase, both the elastic (Figure 3.2A, D) and loss (Figure 3.2B, E) moduli of all samples increased rapidly from 20 to 10°C. In general, all the treatments at 6.67% gelatin showed better gelling abilities and greater *G'* and *G''* values compared to 5% gelatin preparations (Figure 3.2 (B, D); Figure 3.2 (A, C)). This also confirmed that the gelatin gel elasticity is concentration-dependent since greater frequency of encounters among strands would likely occur with

greater concentrations of gelatin (Tosh and Marangoni, 2004). The addition of MTGase without TYR to both gelatin controls did not affect the G' values during the temperature sweep (Figure 3.2A, B). This suggests that introduction of covalent cross-links produced by MTGase did not result in a more elastic gelatin gel network compared to control treatments. MTGase-catalyzed amination decreased the G' values from 3620 Pa (gelatin alone; G) to 2670 (G + MTGase + 0.5% TYR) and 2640 Pa was observed in its control (G + 0.5% TYR). A similar pattern was also observed with 1.0% TYR (data not shown). This indicates that MTGase amination with TYR negatively affects the elasticity of the gelatin gels. It is possible that TYR interfered with the gel-forming ability of gelatin and hence weakened the gelatin gels (Walkenström and Hermansson, 1996; Norziah et al., 2009). The formation of gelatin gels may rely on a perfect protein network, mainly driven by the complex network of hydrogen bonds. Introduction of TYR functional group to the gelatin molecule may alter this perfect phenomenon.



Figure 3.2: Development of elastic (*G'*) and viscous (*G''*) moduli and phase angle (δ) during cooling from 45 to 10°C of treatments G, G + MTGase, G + 0.5% TYR and G + MTGase + 0.5% TYR at 5% (w/v) (A-C) and 6.67% (w/v) (D-F) of gelatin concentrations. Changes in the storage modulus *G'* (A, D), loss modulus *G''* (B, E), and phase angle δ (C, F) were monitored at a frequency of 1 Hz and plotted against time.

3.3.3 Effect of MTGase amination of gelatin on gelation rate (K_{gel}) and gel

strength (G_N)

Determining the gelation rate and gel strength from kinetic models has been extensively used to understand the kinetics of structural changes during the gelation process (Eq. (1); Eq. (3)). A lower K_{gel} value predicts a longer time before the G' and G'' reach equilibrium values (Kohyama and Nishinari, 1993), corresponding to the formation of a stable gel. The effect of the different

treatments on gelation rates and gel strength are summarized in Table 1. Overall, the K_{gel} , for treatments with a gelatin concentration of 6.67% was greater than those with 5%. The addition of MTGase in the presence of absence of TYR at gelatin concentrations of 5 and 6.67% did not significantly reduce the K_{gel} . The gelation rate was mainly affected by the gelatin concentration rather than the addition of MTGase + TYR or TYR alone. Gel strength (G_N) analysis (Table 3.1) showed that, in general, the gel strength was greater in samples with a gelatin concentration of 6.67% compared to those with 5%. For instance, a G_N value of 7852 Pa for gelatin alone (G) at 6.67% gelatin concentration was greater (p < p0.05) than a G_N of 5055 Pa for 5% gelatin. Pang et al. (2014) reported that increased gelatin concentrations led to stronger gels due to more triple helical structures. The addition of MTGase (gelatin + MTGase) significantly decreased $G_{\rm N}$, indicating MTGase negative impact on the gel strength. This is presumably due to the geometrical restrictions of the gelatin chain flexibility as a result of MTGase cross-links (Bode et al., 2011). These restrictions would disturb the normal formation of hydrogen-bonded triple-helix junction zones during cooling, despite the presence of a high density of the chemical network. Hence, the development of a physical polymeric network with elastic properties is inhibited. The results were consistent with those reported by Babin and Dickinson (2001) for acid-processed gelatin pre-treated with MTGase. Also MTGase-catalyzed amination reduced the gel strength of treatments (G + MTGase + 0.5% TYR; G + MTGase + 1% TYR) when compared to gelatin alone. These observations suggested that the incorporation of TYR in the gelatin molecule also have a

negative effect on the gel strength, likely due to the interference with a regular triple helix formation.

Figure 3.3 shows the time dependence of the storage (G') and loss (G'')moduli for four selected treatments: gelatin alone (5% (w/v) G, 6.67% (w/v) G) and MTGase-treated gelatins (5% (w/v) G + MTGase, 6.67% (w/v) G + MTGase) at 10°C, respectively. For all treatments G' was greater than G" by more than 10fold. During the 3 h holding time, G' rapidly increased in the first 23 min, where the treatments undergo a sol-gel transition due to partial refolding of gelatin single strands into triple-helix (Djabourov, 1988). Next, the evolution of G' over time reached a plateau, indicating the formation of a stable gel. Treatments with a gelatin concentration of 6.67% (G and G + MTGase) had greater G' at all times compared to those at 5%. This is consistent with findings from previous studies which have shown that the samples containing more concentrated gelatins exhibited a greater rigidity (Simon et al., 2003; Haug et al., 2004). TYR treatments in the presence or absence of MTGase did not significantly affect the evolution of G' (data not shown). This is consistent with the results reported in Table 3.1 and reflects the important effect of MTGase on the gels rheological properties.



Figure 3.3: Time sweep curves of treatments: 5% (w/v) G (- -), 5% (w/v) G + MTGase (-..-.), 6.67% (w/v) G (-) and 6.67% (w/v) G + MTGase (- - -) at a holding temperature of 10°C for 3 h. Evolution of storage modulus *G'* plots (thick lines) are always above the corresponding loss modulus evolution *G''* plots (thin lines).

Figure 3.4 shows the results of the frequency sweep measurements of selected treatments: gelatin alone (5% (w/v) G, 6.67% (w/v) G) and MTGase-treated gelatins (5% (w/v) G + MTGase, 6.67% (w/v) G + MTGase), respectively. In general, both moduli varied only slightly during the frequency sweep. The storage (*G'*) modulus value dominated the loss (*G''*) modulus, and the tan δ were much lower than 0.1, indicative of a solid-like nature for the formed gels. Greater values of both moduli were observed in treatments at 6.67% gelatin concentrations at every frequency, as a result of a greater concentration of helical

structures. This is consistent with the findings from previous studies, which have shown that an increased gelatin concentration contributes to a greater storage modulus (Gómez-Guillén et al., 2002; Simon et al., 2003). The addition of MTGase (G + MTGase) decreased the G' of gelatin gels (by about 500 Pa) in contrast to those treatments without MTGase (G). As explained before, the restriction in gelatin chain flexibility as a consequence of MTGase cross-linking may be the cause of this phenomenon.



Figure 3.4: Frequency dependence of storage (*G'*, large symbols) and loss (*G''*) moduli of treatments: 5% (w/v) G (\blacksquare), 5% (w/v) G + MTGase (\blacktriangle), 6.67% (w/v) G (\clubsuit) and 6.67% (w/v) G + MTGase (O). The frequency was tested over the range from 0.01 to 10 Hz recorded at 10°C.

	Kgel		G _N		
Treatments	5% G	6.67% G	5% G	6.67% G	
G	637 ± 13	1011 ± 37	5055 ± 28^{a}	7852 ± 15^{a}	
G + MTGase	584 ± 31	912 ± 85	4568 ± 21^{d}	$7343 \pm 12^{\circ}$	
G + 0.5% TYR	607 ± 16	927 ± 59	$4653 \pm 15^{\mathrm{b}}$	$7363 \pm 28^{\circ}$	
G + MTGase + 0.5% TYR	626 ± 21	934 ± 33	4424 ± 20^{e}	7697 ± 15^{b}	
G + 1% TYR	631 ± 24	903 ± 29	$4622 \pm 13^{\rm bc}$	7252 ± 45^{cd}	
G + MTGase + 1% TYR	622 ± 5	923 ± 53	4575 ± 15^{cd}	7297 ± 26^{cd}	

Table 3.1 Gelation rate (K_{gel}) and gel strength (G_N) of treatments during holding phase at 10°C for 3 h.

Logarithmic model equation: $G_t = K_{gel} \ln (t_{gel}) + C$ where $K_{gel} = gelation$ rate constant.

Gel strength equation: $G_N = \overline{I'}$ where $G_N =$ Gel strength at end of 3 h holding period.

 $G_{\rm N}$ values within the column with the same letter are not significantly different (p > 0.05).

All data is expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (n = 6).

3.3.4 Effect of MTGase amination on gelatin's melting temperature

Figure 3.5 shows the melting temperature (T_m) of different treatments. No significant differences in the melting temperature of 5% and 6.6.7% (w/v) G were found with the values of 32.0 and 33.1°C, respectively. The addition of MTGase (G + MTGase) led to an increase in the melting temperatures to 34.1 and 34.5 °C for 5% and 6.67% gelatin, respectively. Norziah et al. (2009) reported that the addition of MTGase significantly increased the melting temperature of surimi extracted fish gelatin (EFG) to 17.5°C at the enzyme concentration of 5.0 mg/g as compared to untreated EFG (16.7°C). Consistent with those results, the current study shows an increasing trend of melting temperature due to the presence of covalent bonds induced by MTGase. In general, an increase of gelling and melting temperatures was expected due to transglutaminase-catalyzed amide bonds formation (Saito et al., 2007).

The T_m of treatments G + MTGase + 0.5% TYR and G + MTGase + 1% TYR and their controls (G + 0.5% TYR; G + 1% TYR) were not significantly different compared to gelatin alone (G) at both gelatin concentrations. This indicates that TYR did not induce a major change in the transition of gelatin from a helical network to single strands. However, MTGase amination with TYR decreased T_m values compared to treatment G + MTGase. This suggests that the introduction of cross-links between gelatins and TYR may have further hindered the triple helix junction zones. The resulting cross-link formation may have

76

caused coagulations inside of the gels; these coagulated chains were resistant to heat as indicated by lower melting temperatures (Kaewdang and Benjakul, 2015).



Figure 3.5: Melting temperatures (T_m) of the treatments with gelatin concentrations of 5 and 6.67% (w/v). The values were obtained during heating of the respective treatments from 10 to 45°C. Data are presented as mean ± standard deviation (n = 6). Values with different alphabets are significantly different (p < 0.05).

3.4. Conclusions

Viscoelastic properties of modified gelatins were investigated to determine the effects of MTGase-catalyzed amination of gelatin with TYR. The MTGasecatalyzed covalent incorporation of TYR perturbs the regular triple helical network in gelatin chains, where covalent cross-linking normally occurs randomly. The altered structure of the TYR-modified gelatins did not contribute to the improvement of the gelatin gel rheological properties. However, incorporating a biogenic amine like TYR into these gels may increase their antioxidant activity as previously investigated by Lu et al., (2016).

Chapter 4: Conclusions, implications and future work

This research was conducted to modify food proteins and peptides by conjugating them with biogenic amines catalyzed by microbial transglutaminase (MTGase). MTGase is a commercially available food-grade enzyme that is widely applied to modify the structure and function of food proteins. Biogenic amines (BAs) are present in various food products and elevated consumption can lead to various types of food-borne diseases, including histamine-induced "scombroid syndrome" and "the cheese reaction" triggered by tyramine. The use of BAs as acyl acceptor substrates for MTGase catalysis (enzymatic amination) could be a practical solution to reduce BA content in foods, while at the same time changes the protein functionality and bioactivity in a food system. This research demonstrated that MTGase could be used to incorporate both heterocyclic and aromatic amines. Protein systems that were used included pea protein peptides produced through alcalase hydrolysis and pigskin gelatin, one of the most widely used animal hydrocolloids in both food and pharmaceutical industries. The studies conducted proved that both histamine and tyramine can be conjugated to pea protein peptides and tyramine can be conjugated to gelatin. The antioxidant capacity of pea protein peptides was improved as consequence of amination. The rheological properties of the gelatin were reduced from the MTGase-catalyzed amination. This research widens the application of MTGase catalysis for the food industry.

79

The objective of the first study was to produce, identify and characterize the formation of BA-pea protein peptides conjugates by using MTGase. For this purpose, histamine was added in the presence of MTGase and the conjugation was determined by liquid chromatography. Overall, 76% of histamine was covalently incorporated to pea protein peptides by the enzymatic reaction. The study also revealed the conjugation of TYR via MTGase improved the antioxidant ability of peptides by acting as free radical scavengers and reducing linoleic acid peroxidation.

The second study investigated the incorporation of TYR into porcine skin gelatins. The evaluation of MTG amination of gelatins was based on determining the rheological properties of gelation and melting temperatures, as well as gelation rate and gel strength. In order to accomplish this, two levels of TYR (0.5%, 1% (w/w)) and two levels of gelatins (5%, 6.67% (w/v)) were mixed in aqueous media at 50°C in the presence of MTGase. The gelation temperatures of MTGase cross-linked gelatins were markedly increased and reduced the time required for gelation, but these decreased upon TRY incorporation. Weaker gels were produced when gelatins were subjected to both TYR and MTGase.

Overall, this research demonstrated BAs can be potential substrates by MTGase and introduced into food proteins and peptides. A combination of glutamine-containing peptides together with MTGase has the potential to decontaminate fermented foods and beverages from BAs. Future work needs to focus on applications in fermented foods such as cheese, salami, beer and wine.

Bibliography

- Aaltonen, T., Huumonen, I., & Myllärinen, P. (2014). Controlled transglutaminase treatment in Edam cheese-making. *International Dairy Journal*, 38(2), 179-182.
- Adler-Nissen, J. (1986). *Enzymic Hydrolysis of Food Proteins*. Elsevier Applied Science Publishers Ltd., London, UK.
- Agyare, K. K., & Damodaran, S. (2010). pH-stability and thermal properties of microbial transglutaminase-treated whey protein isolate. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58(3), 1946-1953.
- Ahhmed, A. M., Kuroda, R., Kawahara, S., Ohta, K., Nakade, K., Aoki, T., & Muguruma, M. (2009a). Dependence of microbial transglutaminase on meat type in myofibrillar proteins cross-linking. *Food Chemistry*, *112*(2), 354-361.
- Ahhmed, A. M., Nasu, T., Huy, D. Q., Tomisaka, Y., Kawahara, S., & Muguruma, M. (2009b). Effect of microbial transglutaminase on the natural actomyosin cross-linking in chicken and beef. *Meat Science*, 82(2), 170-178.
- Ahmed, M. A., El-Nimer, A. M., Mostafa, M. A., & Omar, H. (2015). Effect of Fat Replacer or Transglutaminase on the Quality of Low-Fat Gouda-Like Cheese. World Journal of Dairy and Food Sciences, 10(2), 170-180.
- Ajinomoto©. (2013). Ajinomoto Foods Europe SAS. Available: http:/transglutaminase.com; Accessed March 6, 2016.
- Alashi, A. M., Blanchard, C. L., Mailer, R. J., Agboola, S. O., Mawson, A. J., He, R., & Aluko, R. E. (2014). Antioxidant properties of Australian canola meal protein hydrolysates. *Food Chemistry*, 146, 500-506.

- Altındağ, G., Certel, M., Erem, F., & Konak, Ü. İ. (2015). Quality characteristics of gluten-free cookies made of buckwheat, corn, and rice flour with/without transglutaminase. *Food Science and Technology International*, 21(3), 213-220.
- Ando, H., Adachi, M., Umeda, K., Matsuura, A., Nonaka, M., Uchio, R., & Motoki, M. (1989). Purification and characteristics of a novel transglutaminase derived from microorganisms. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry*, 53(10), 2613-2617.
- Anema, S. G., Lauber, S., Lee, S. K., Henle, T., & Klostermeyer, H. (2005).
 Rheological properties of acid gels prepared from pressure-and transglutaminase-treated skim milk. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 19(5), 879-887.
- Asghar, A., & Henrickson, R. L. (1982). Chemical, biochemical, functional, and nutritional characteristics of collagen in food systems. *Advances in Food Research*, 28(23), 1-372.
- Askar, A., & Treptow, H. (1986). Biogene Amine in Lebensmitteln. Vorkommen, Bedeutung und Bestimmung.
- Babin, H., & Dickinson, E. (2001). Influence of transglutaminase treatment on the thermoreversible gelation of gelatin. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 15(3), 271-276.
- Bardócz, S., Grant, G., Brown, D. S., Ralph, A., & Pusztai, A. (1993). Polyamines in food—implications for growth and health. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 4(2), 66-71.
- Bercovici, D., Gaertner, H. F., & Puigserver, A. J. (1987). Transglutaminasecatalyzed incorporation of lysine oligomers into casein. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *35*(3), 301-304.

- Betancur- Ancona, D., Martínez- Rosado, R., Corona- Cruz, A., Castellanos-Ruelas, A., Jaramillo- Flores, M. E., & Chel- Guerrero, L. (2009). Functional properties of hydrolysates from Phaseolus lunatus seeds. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 44(1), 128-137.
- Bode, F., da Silva, M. A., Drake, A. F., Ross-Murphy, S. B., & Dreiss, C. A. (2011). Enzymatically cross-linked tilapia gelatin hydrogels: physical, chemical, and hybrid networks. *Biomacromolecules*, 12, 3741-3752.
- Bodmer, S., Imark, C., & Kneubühl, M. (1999). Biogenic amines in foods: histamine and food processing. *Inflammation Research*, *48*(6), 296-300.
- Bogue, R. H. (1922). Contributions to the chemistry and technology of gelatin and glue. *Journal of the Franklin Institute*, *193*(6), 795-825.
- Bönisch, M. P., Huss, M., Lauber, S., & Kulozik, U. (2007). Yoghurt gel formation by means of enzymatic protein cross-linking during microbial fermentation. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 21(4), 585-595.
- Bönisch, M. P., Tolkach, A., & Kulozik, U. (2006). Inactivation of an indigenous transglutaminase inhibitor in milk serum by means of UHT-treatment and membrane separation techniques. *International Dairy Journal*, 16(6), 669-678.
- Bougatef, A., Hajji, M., Balti, R., Lassoued, I., Triki-Ellouz, Y., & Nasri, M. (2009). Antioxidant and free radical-scavenging activities of smooth hound (Mustelus mustelus) muscle protein hydrolysates obtained by gastrointestinal proteases. *Food Chemistry*, 114(4), 1198-1205.
- Boutureira, O., & Bernardes, G. J. (2015). Advances in chemical protein modification. *Chemical Reviews*, 115(5), 2174-2195.

- Braca, A., Sortino, C., Politi, M., Morelli, I., & Mendez, J. (2002). Antioxidant activity of flavonoids from Licania licaniaeflora. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 79(3), 379-381.
- Brookhart, P. P., McMahon, P. L., & Takahashi, M. (1983). Purification of guinea pig liver transglutaminase using a phenylalanine-Sepharose 4B affinity column. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 128(1), 202-205.
- Buchert, J., Ercili Cura, D., Ma, H., Gasparetti, C., Monogioudi, E., Faccio, G., & Lantto, R. (2010). Crosslinking food proteins for improved functionality. *Annual Review of Food Science and Technology*, 1, 113-138.
- Bulushi, I. A., Poole, S., Deeth, H. C., & Dykes, G. A. (2009). Biogenic amines in fish: roles in intoxication, spoilage, and nitrosamine formation—a review. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 49(4), 369-377.
- Canto, A. C., Lima, B. R. C., Suman, S. P., Lazaro, C. A., Monteiro, M. L. G., Conte-Junior, C. A., & Silva, T. J. (2014). Physico-chemical and sensory attributes of low-sodium restructured caiman steaks containing microbial transglutaminase and salt replacers. *Meat Science*, 96(1), 623-632.
- Carvajal, P., Gibert, J., Campos, N., Lopera, O., Barberà, E., Torné, J. M., & Santos, M. (2011). Activity of maize transglutaminase overexpressed in Escherichia coli inclusion bodies: an alternative to protein refolding. *Biotechnology Progress*, 27(1), 232-240.
- Cauvain, S. (2015). Other cereals in breadmaking. In *Technology of breadmaking* (pp. 377-397). Springer International Publishing.
- Chambi, H., & Grosso, C. (2006). Edible films produced with gelatin and casein cross-linked with transglutaminase. *Food Research International*, 39(4), 458-466.

- Chanarat, S., & Benjakul, S. (2012). Comparative study on protein cross- linking and gel enhancing effect of microbial transglutaminase on surimi from different fish. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 92(4), 844-852.
- Chanarat, S., & Benjakul, S. (2013). Impact of microbial transglutaminase on gelling properties of Indian mackerel fish protein isolates. *Food Chemistry*, 136(2), 929-937.
- Chen, G. T., Zhao, L., Zhao, L. Y., Cong, T., & Bao, S. F. (2007). In vitro study on antioxidant activities of peanut protein hydrolysate. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 87(2), 357-362.
- Chen, K., Liu, S., Zhang, D., Wang, M., Shi, Z., Du, G., & Chen, J. (2013). Altered secretary efficiency of Streptomyces hygroscopicus transglutaminase in Escherichia coli by the pro-peptide modification. *Process Biochemistry*, 48(5), 782-787.
- Cheow, C. S., Norizah, M. S., Kyaw, Z. Y., & Howell, N. K. (2007). Preparation and characterisation of gelatins from the skins of sin croaker (*Johnius dussumieri*) and shortfin scad (*Decapterus macrosoma*). Food Chemistry, 101, 386-391.
- Cho, S. M., Gu, Y. S., & Kim, S. B. (2005). Extracting optimization and physical properties of yellowfin tuna (*Thunnus albacares*) skin gelatin compared to mammalian gelatins. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 19, 221-229.
- Colas, B., Caer, D., & Fournier, E. (1993). Transglutaminase-catalyzed glycosylation of vegetable proteins. Effect on solubility of pea legumin and wheat gliadins. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 41(11), 1811-1815.
- Cole, C. G. B. (2000). Gelatin. *Encyclopedia of Food Science and Technology*, 2(2), 1183-1188.

- Connellan, J. M., Chung, S. I., Whetzel, N. K., Bradley, L. M., & Folk, J. E. (1971). Structural properties of guinea pig liver transglutaminase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 246(4), 1093-1098.
- Crescenzi, V., Francescangeli, A., & Taglienti, A. (2002). New gelatin-based hydrogels via enzymatic networking. *Biomacromolecules*, *3*, 1384-1391.
- Cumby, N., Zhong, Y., Naczk, M., & Shahidi, F. (2008). Antioxidant activity and water-holding capacity of canola protein hydrolysates. *Food Chemistry*, 109(1), 144-148.
- de Ávila, M. R., Ordóñez, J. A., De la Hoz, L., Herrero, A. M., & Cambero, M. I. (2010). Microbial transglutaminase for cold-set binding of unsalted/salted pork models and restructured dry ham. *Meat Science*, 84(4), 747-754.
- DeJong, G. A. H., & Koppelman, S. J. (2002). Transglutaminase catalyzed reactions: impact on food applications. *Journal of Food Science*, 67(8), 2798-2806.
- Delcour, J. A., Joye, I. J., Pareyt, B., Wilderjans, E., Brijs, K., & Lagrain, B. (2012). Wheat gluten functionality as a quality determinant in cereal-based food products. *Annual Review of Food Science and Technology*, *3*, 469-492.
- Di Pierro, P., Sorrentino, A., Mariniello, L., Giosafatto, C. V. L., & Porta, R. (2011). Chitosan/whey protein film as active coating to extend Ricotta cheese shelf-life. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 44(10), 2324-2327.
- Dickinson, E., & Yamamoto, Y. (1996). Rheology of milk protein gels and protein-stabilized emulsion gels cross-linked with transglutaminase. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 44, 1371-1377.
- Djabourov, M. (1988). Architecture of gelatin gels. *Contemporary Physics*, 29, 273-297.

- Djagny, K. B., Wang, Z., & Xu, S. (2001). Gelatin: a valuable protein for food and pharmaceutical industries: review. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 41(6), 481-492.
- Du, L., Khiari, Z., Pietrasik, Z., & Betti, M. (2013). Physicochemical and functional properties of gelatins extracted from turkey and chicken heads. *Poultry Science*, 92, 2463-2474.
- Eckert, R. L., Kaartinen, M. T., Nurminskaya, M., Belkin, A. M., Colak, G., Johnson, G. V., & Mehta, K. (2014). Transglutaminase regulation of cell function. *Physiological Reviews*, 94(2), 383-417.
- El- Nagar, G., Clowes, G., Tudorică, C. M., Kuri, V., & Brennan, C. S. (2002). Rheological quality and stability of yog- ice cream with added inulin. *International Journal of Dairy Technology*, 55(2), 89-93.
- Elzoghby, A. O., Samy, W. M., & Elgindy, N. A. (2012). Protein-based nanocarriers as promising drug and gene delivery systems. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 161, 38-49.
- Falcone, P., Serafini-Fracassini, D., & Del Duca, S. (1993). Comparative studies of transglutaminase activity and substrates in different organs of Helianthus tuberosus. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 142(3), 265-273.
- Fenelon, M. A., & Guinee, T. P. (2000). Primary proteolysis and textural changes during ripening in Cheddar cheeses manufactured to different fat contents. *International Dairy Journal*, 10(3), 151-158.
- Fernandez-Diaz, M. D., Montero, P., & Gomez-Guillen, M. C. (2001). Gel properties of collagens from skins of cod (*Gadus morhua*) and hake (*Merluccius merluccius*) and their modification by the coenhancers magnesium sulphate, glycerol and transglutaminase. *Food Chemistry*, 74, 161-167.

- Ferry, J. D. (1980). Viscoelastic properties of polymers. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Folk, J. E. (1980). Transglutaminases. Annual Review of Biochemistry, 49(1), 517-531.
- Folk, J. K. (1970). Transglutaminase. In: H. Tabor, & C. W. Tabor (Eds.), *Methods in Enzymology* (pp. 889-894). New York: Academic Press.
- Fonkwe, L. G., Narsimhan, G., & Cha, A. S. (2003). Characterization of gelation time and texture of gelatin and gelatin–polysaccharide mixed gels. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 17, 871-883.
- Fuchsbauer, H. L., Gerber, U., Engelmann, J., Seeger, T., Sinks, C., & Hecht, T. (1996). Influence of gelatin matrices cross-linked with transglutaminase on the properties of an enclosed bioactive material using β-galactosidase as model system. *Biomaterials*, 17, 1481-1488.
- Gerrard, J. A. (2002). Protein–protein crosslinking in food: methods, consequences, applications. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 13(12), 391-399.
- Gilsenan, P. M., & Ross-Murphy, S. B. (2000). Rheological characterisation of gelatins from mammalian and marine sources. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 14(3), 191-195.
- Giménez, B., Alemán, A., Montero, P., & Gómez-Guillén, M. C. (2009). Antioxidant and functional properties of gelatin hydrolysates obtained from skin of sole and squid. *Food Chemistry*, 114(3), 976-983.
- Ginsburg, M., Wajda, I., & Waelsch, H. (1963). Transglutaminase and histamine incorporation in vivo. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *12*(3), 251-264.

- Gnanou, Y., & Fontanille, M. (2008). Organic and physical chemistry of polymers. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons.
- Goff, H. D. (2002). Formation and stabilisation of structure in ice-cream and related products. *Current Opinion in Colloid and Interface science*, 7(5), 432-437.
- Gómez-Guillén, M. C., Giménez, B., López-Caballero, M. A., & Montero, M. P. (2011). Functional and bioactive properties of collagen and gelatin from alternative sources: A review. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 25(8), 1813-1827.
- Gómez-Guillén, M. C., Turnay, J., Fernández-Diaz, M. D., Ulmo, N., Lizarbe, M. A., & Montero, P. (2002). Structural and physical properties of gelatin extracted from different marine species: a comparative study. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 16(1), 25-34.
- Gong, X., Wang, X., Qi, N., Li, J., Lin, L., & Han, Z. (2014). Determination of biogenic amines in traditional Chinese fermented foods by reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography (RP-HPLC). *Food Additives and Contaminants: Part A*, 31(8), 1431-1437.
- Goupy, P., Dufour, C., Loonis, M., & Dangles, O. (2003). Quantitative kinetic analysis of hydrogen transfer reactions from dietary polyphenols to the DPPH radical. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *51*(3), 615-622.
- Greif, G., Greifova, M., Dvoran, J., Karovicova, J., & Buchtova, J. (1999). Study of the growth and production of biogenic amines by some microorganisms in model conditions. *Czech Journal of Food Sciences-UZPI (Czech Republic)*.
- Griffin, M., Casadio, R., & Bergamini, C. M. (2002). Transglutaminases: nature's biological glues. *Biochemical Journal*, 368(2), 377-396.
- Gudmundsson. (2002). Rheological properties of fish gelatin. *Journal of Food Science*, 67, 2172-2176.

- Guerra-Rodríguez, E., & Vázquez, M. (2014). Evaluation of a novel low-cost culture medium containing exclusively milk, potato and glycerol for microbial transglutaminase production by Streptomyces mobaraensis. *Chemical Engineering Research and Design*, 92(4), 784-791.
- Gujral, H. S., & Rosell, C. M. (2004). Functionality of rice flour modified with a microbial transglutaminase. *Journal of Cereal Science*, *39*(2), 225-230.
- Gundersen, M. T., Keillor, J. W., & Pelletier, J. N. (2014). Microbial transglutaminase displays broad acyl-acceptor substrate specificity. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 98(1), 219-230.
- Guzelian, P. S., Qureshi, G. D., & Diegelmann, R. F. (1980). Collagen synthesis by the hepatocyte: studies in primary cultures of parenchymal cells from adult rat liver. *Collagen and Related Research*, 1(1), 83-93.
- Ha, C. R., & Iuchi, I. (2003). Transglutaminase. *Food Science and Technology-New York-Marcel Dekker-*, 637-656.
- Halász, A., Baráth, Á., Simon-Sarkadi, L., & Holzapfel, W. (1994). Biogenic amines and their production by microorganisms in food. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 5(2), 42-49.
- Han, M., Zhang, Y., Fei, Y., Xu, X., & Zhou, G. (2009). Effect of microbial transglutaminase on NMR relaxometry and microstructure of pork myofibrillar protein gel. *European Food Research and Technology*, 228(4), 665-670.
- Han, X. Q., & Damodaran, S. (1996). Thermodynamic compatibility of substrate proteins affects their cross-linking by transglutaminase. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 44, 1211-1217.

- Hashim, D. M., Man, Y. C., Norakasha, R., Shuhaimi, M., Salmah, Y., & Syahariza, Z.A. (2010). Potential use of Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy for differentiation of bovine and porcine gelatins. *Food Chemistry*, 118, 856-860.
- Haug, I. J., Draget, K. I., & Smidsrød, O. (2004). Physical and rheological properties of fish gelatin compared to mammalian gelatin. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 18, 203-213.
- Heck, T., Faccio, G., Richter, M., & Thöny-Meyer, L. (2013). Enzyme-catalyzed protein crosslinking. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 97(2), 461-475.
- Hong, G. P., & Xiong, Y. L. (2012). Microbial transglutaminase-induced structural and rheological changes of cationic and anionic myofibrillar proteins. *Meat Science*, 91(1), 36-42.
- Hong, P. K., Gottardi, D., Ndagijimana, M., & Betti, M. (2014). Glycation and transglutaminase mediated glycosylation of fish gelatin peptides with glucosamine enhance bioactivity. *Food Chemistry*, 142, 285-293.
- Hose, H., Schaafsma, G. J., Silla, H., & Smith, J. E. (1990). Health aspects of food biotechnology. In *processing and Quality of Foods* (Vol. 2). Elsevier Applied Science London and New York.
- Humiski, L. M., & Aluko, R. E. (2007). Physicochemical and bitterness properties of enzymatic pea protein hydrolysates. *Journal of Food Science*, 72(8), S605-S611.
- Jiang, S. J., & Zhao, X. H. (2010). Transglutaminase-induced cross-linking and glucosamine conjugation in soybean protein isolates and its impacts on some functional properties of the products. *European Food Research and Technology*, 231(5), 679-689.

- Jooyandeh, H., Mortazavi, S. A., Farhang, P., & Samavati, V. (2015). Physicochemical Properties of Set-Style Yoghurt as Effect by Microbial Transglutaminase and Milk Solids Contents. *Journal of. Applied. Environmental. Biology. Science*, 4(11S), 59-67.
- Kaewdang, O., & Benjakul, S. (2015). Effect of ethanolic extract of coconut husk on gel properties of gelatin from swim bladder of yellowfin tuna. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 62, 955-961.
- Kanaji, T., Ozaki, H., Takao, T., Kawajiri, H., Ide, H., Motoki, M., & Shimonishi, Y. (1993). Primary structure of microbial transglutaminase from Streptoverticillium sp. strain s-8112. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 268(16), 11565-11572.
- Kanchan, K., Fuxreiter, M., & Fésüs, L. (2015). Physiological, pathological, and structural implications of non-enzymatic protein–protein interactions of the multifunctional human transglutaminase 2. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 72(16), 3009-3035.
- Karim, A. A., & Bhat, R. (2009). Fish gelatin: properties, challenges, and prospects as an alternative to mammalian gelatins. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 23, 563-576.
- Kasapis, S., Morris, E. R., Norton, I. T., & Brown, C. R. T. (1993). Phase equilibria and gelation in gelatin/maltodextrin systems-Part III: Phase separation in mixed gels. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 21, 261-268.
- Kashiwagi, T., Yokoyama, K. I., Ishikawa, K., Ono, K., Ejima, D., Matsui, H., & Suzuki, E. I. (2002). Crystal Structure of Microbial Transglutaminase fromStreptoverticillium mobaraense. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(46), 44252-44260.

- Kaur, M., Hardman, A., Melia, C. D., Jumel, K., & Higginbottom, S. (2002). Improved SDS-PAGE molecular weight determination of a succinylated limed ossein gelatin. *International Journal of Polymer Analysis and Characterization*, 7, 195-209.
- Keenan, T. R. (1994). Gelatin. Kirk-Othmer encyclopedia of chemical technology.
- Kieliszek, M., & Misiewicz, A. (2014). Microbial transglutaminase and its application in the food industry. A review. *Folia Microbiologica*, 59(3), 241-250.
- Kikuchi, Y., Date, M., Yokoyama, K. I., Umezawa, Y., & Matsui, H. (2003). Secretion of active-form Streptoverticillium mobaraense transglutaminase by Corynebacterium glutamicum: processing of the pro-transglutaminase by a cosecreted subtilisin-like protease from Streptomyces albogriseolus. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 69(1), 358-366.
- Kim, M. K., Mah, J. H., & Hwang, H. J. (2009). Biogenic amine formation and bacterial contribution in fish, squid and shellfish. *Food Chemistry*, 116(1), 87-95.
- Kim, S. Y., Park, P. S., & Rhee, K. C. (1990). Functional properties of proteolytic enzyme modified soy protein isolate. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 38(3), 651-656.
- Kirk, O., Borchert, T. V., & Fuglsang, C. C. (2002). Industrial enzyme applications. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, *13*(4), 345-351.
- Kohyama, K., & Nishinari, K. (1993). Rheological studies on the gelation process of soybean 7S and 11S proteins in the presence of glucono-δ-lactone. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 41, 8-14.

- Kong, X., Zhou, H., & Qian, H. (2007). Enzymatic hydrolysis of wheat gluten by proteases and properties of the resulting hydrolysates. *Food Chemistry*, 102(3), 759-763.
- Kudre, T. G., & Benjakul, S. (2013). Combining effect of microbial transglutaminase and bambara groundnut protein isolate on gel properties of surimi from sardine (Sardinella albella). *Food Biophysics*, 8(4), 240-249.
- Kuraishi, C., Yamazaki, K., Susa, Y. (2001). Transglutaminase: Its utilization in the food industry. *Food Reviews International* 17(2):221–246.
- Lakowicz, J. R. (Ed.). (2013). Principles of fluorescence spectroscopy. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Lee, C. M., Wu, M. C., & Okada, M. (1992). Ingredient and formulation technology for surimi-based products. *Surimi Technology*, 53, 273-302.
- Lee, D. S., Matsumoto, S., Matsumura, Y., & Mori, T. (2002). Identification of the ε-(γ-glutamyl) lysine cross-linking sites in α-lactalbumin polymerized by mammalian and microbial transglutaminases. *Journal of Agricultural and Food chemistry*, 50(25), 7412-7419.
- Li, Y., Jiang, B., Zhang, T., Mu, W., & Liu, J. (2008). Antioxidant and free radical-scavenging activities of chickpea protein hydrolysate (CPH). *Food Chemistry*, 106(2), 444-450.
- Lim, L. T., Mine, Y., & Tung, M. A. (1999). Barrier and tensile properties of transglutaminase cross- linked gelatin films as affected by relative humidity, temperature, and glycerol content. *Journal of Food Science*, 64, 616-622.
- Lorenzen, P. C., Neve, H., Mautner, A., & Schlimme, E. (2002). Effect of enzymatic cross- linking of milk proteins on functional properties of setstyle yoghurt. *International Journal of Dairy Technology*, 55(3), 152-157.

- Lu, X., Hrynets, Y., & M. Betti. Transglutaminase-catalyzed amination of pea protein peptides using biogenic amines and its effect on antioxidant activity. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* (under review).
- Lucey, J. A., Johnson, M. E., & Horne, D. S. (2003). Invited review: perspectives on the basis of the rheology and texture properties of cheese. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 86(9), 2725-2743.
- Lundblad, R. L. (2014). Chemical reagents for protein modification. CRC press.
- Macedo, J. A., Sette, L. D., & Sato, H. H. (2011). Purification and characterization of a new transglutaminase from Streptomyces Sp. isolated in Brazilian Soil. *Journal of Food Biochemistry*, 35(4), 1361-1372.
- Maijala, R. (1994). Formation of biogenic amines in dry sausages: with special reference to raw materials, lactic acid bacteria, pH decrease, temperature and time. [R. Maijala].
- Maijala, R. L., Eerola, S. H., Aho, M. A., & Hirn, J. A. (1993). The effect of GDL-induced pH decrease on the formation of biogenic amines in meat. *Journal of Food Protection*®, 56(2), 125-129.
- Mariniello, L., Porta, R., Sorrentino, A., Giosafatto, C. V. L., Marquez, G. R., Esposito, M., & Di Pierro, P. (2014). Transglutaminase-mediated macromolecular assembly: production of conjugates for food and pharmaceutical applications. *Amino Acids*, 46(3), 767-776.
- Mariod, A. A., & Adam, H. F. (2013). Review: gelatin, source, extraction and industrial applications. ACTA Scientiarum Polonorum Technologia Alimentaria, 12(2), 135-147.
- Marklinder, I., & Lönner, C. (1992). Fermentation properties of intestinal strains of Lactobacillus, of a sour dough and of a yoghurt starter culture in an oatbased nutritive solution. *Food Microbiology*, 9(3), 197-205.
- Maróstica, M. R., & Pastore, G. M. (2010). Some nutritional, technological and environmental advances in the use of enzymes in meat products. *Enzyme Research*, 2010.
- Marquez, G. R., Di Pierro, P., Esposito, M., Mariniello, L., & Porta, R. (2014). Application of transglutaminase-crosslinked whey protein/pectin films as water barrier coatings in fried and baked foods. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 7(2), 447-455.
- Martins, I. M., Matos, M., Costa, R., Silva, F., Pascoal, A., Estevinho, L. M., & Choupina, A. B. (2014). Transglutaminases: recent achievements and new sources. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 98(16), 6957-6964.
- Mayr, C. M., & Schieberle, P. (2012). Development of stable isotope dilution assays for the simultaneous quantitation of biogenic amines and polyamines in foods by LC-MS/MS. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *60*(12), 3026-3032.
- McCabe-Sellers, B. J., Staggs, C. G., & Bogle, M. L. (2006). Tyramine in foods and monoamine oxidase inhibitor drugs: a crossroad where medicine, nutrition, pharmacy, and food industry converge. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 19, S58-S65.
- Mohtar, N. F., Perera, C. O., & Hemar, Y. (2014). Chemical modification of new Zealand hoki (*Macruronus novaezelandiae*) skin gelatin and its properties. *Food Chemistry*, 155, 64-73.
- Montero, P., & Gómez- Guillén, M. C. (2000). Extracting conditions for megrim (Lepidorhombus boscii) skin collagen affect functional properties of the resulting gelatin. *Journal of Food Science*, 65(3), 434-438.

- Morimura, S., Nagata, H., Uemura, Y., Fahmi, A., Shigematsu, T., & Kida, K. (2002). Development of an effective process for utilization of collagen from livestock and fish waste. *Process Biochemistry*, 37(12), 1403-1412.
- Motoki, M., & Kumazawa, Y. (2000). Recent Research Trends in Transglutaminase Technology for Food Processing. *Food Science and Technology Research*, 6(3), 151-160.
- Motoki, M., & Seguro, K. (1994). Trends in Japanese soy protein research. *Information System Research*, *5*, 308-313.
- Motoki, M., & Seguro, K. (1998). Transglutaminase and its use for food processing. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 9(5), 204-210.
- Motoki, M., Okiyama, A., Nonaka, M., Tanaka, H., Uchio, R., Matsuura, A., & Umeda, K. (1989). Novel transglutaminase manufacture for preparation of protein gelling compounds. *Japanese Kokai Tokkyo Koho Japen*, 127471.
- Mutilangi, W. A. M., Panyam, D., & Kilara, A. (1995). Hydrolysates from Proteolysis of Heat- denatured Whey Proteins. *Journal of Food Science*, 60(5), 1104-1109.
- Naila, A., Flint, S., Fletcher, G., Bremer, P., & Meerdink, G. (2010). Control of biogenic amines in food—existing and emerging approaches. *Journal of Food Science*, 75(7), R139-R150.
- Naqash, S. Y., & Nazeer, R. A. (2013). Antioxidant and functional properties of protein hydrolysates from pink perch (Nemipterus japonicus) muscle. *Journal* of Food Science and Technology, 50(5), 972-978.
- Nijenhuis, K. T. (1981). Investigation into the aging process in gels of gelatinwater systems by the measurement of their dynamic moduli. 2. Mechanism of the aging process. *Colloid and Polymer Science*, *259*, 1017-1026.

- Noda, S., Miyazaki, T., Tanaka, T., Chiaki, O., & Kondo, A. (2013). High-level production of mature active-form Streptomyces mobaraensis transglutaminase via pro-transglutaminase processing using Streptomyces lividans as a host. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 74, 76-80.
- Norziah, M. H., Al-Hassan, A., Khairulnizam, A. B., Mordi, M. N., & Norita, M. (2009). Characterization of fish gelatin from surimi processing wastes: Thermal analysis and effect of transglutaminase on gel properties. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 23(6), 1610-1616.
- Norziah, M. H., Al-Hassan, A., Khairulnizam, A. B., Mordi, M. N., & Norita, M. (2009). Characterization of fish gelatin from surimi processing wastes: Thermal analysis and effect of transglutaminase on gel properties. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 23, 1610-1616.
- Onal, A. (2007). A review: Current analytical methods for the determination of biogenic amines in foods. *Food Chemistry*, *103*(4), 1475-1486.
- Osawa, T., & Namiki, M. (1981). A novel type of antioxidant isolated from leaf wax of Eucalyptus leaves. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry*, *45*(3), 735-739.
- Osborne, C. M., & Bremer, P. J. (2000). Application of the Bigelow (z-value) model and histamine detection to determine the time and temperature required to eliminate Morganella morganii from seafood. *Journal of Food Protection*®, *63*(2), 277-280.
- Ovissipour, M., Safari, R., Motamedzadegan, A., & Shabanpour, B. (2012). Chemical and biochemical hydrolysis of Persian sturgeon (Acipenser persicus) visceral protein. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 5(2), 460-465.

- Ozer, B., Kirmaci, H. A., Oztekin, S., Hayaloglu, A., & Atamer, M. (2007). Incorporation of microbial transglutaminase into non-fat yogurt production. *International Dairy Journal*, 17(3), 199-207.
- Pang, Z., Deeth, H., Sopade, P., Sharma, R., & Bansal, N. (2014). Rheology, texture and microstructure of gelatin gels with and without milk proteins. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 35, 484-493.
- Pasternack, R., Dorsch, S., Otterbach, J. T., Robenek, I. R., Wolf, S., & Fuchsbauer, H. L. (1998). Bacterial pro- transglutaminase from *Streptoverticillium mobaraense*. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 257(3), 570-576.
- Phengnuam, T., Goroncy, A. K., Rutherfurd, S. M., Moughan, P. J., & Suntornsuk, W. (2013). DPPH radical scavenging activity of a mixture of fatty acids and peptide-containing compounds in a protein hydrolysate of Jatropha curcas seed cake. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *61*(48), 11808-11816.
- Pires, C., Ramos, C., Teixeira, G., Batista, I., Mendes, R., Nunes, L., & Marques,
 A. (2011). Characterization of biodegradable films prepared with hake proteins and thyme oil. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 105(3), 422-428.
- Porta, R., Di Pierro, P., Rossi-Marquez, G., Mariniello, L., Kadivar, M., & Arabestani, A. (2015). Microstructure and properties of bitter vetch (Vicia ervilia) protein films reinforced by microbial transglutaminase. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 50, 102-107.
- Pownall, T. L., Udenigwe, C. C., & Aluko, R. E. (2010). Amino acid composition and antioxidant properties of pea seed (Pisum sativum L.) enzymatic protein hydrolysate fractions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58(8), 4712-4718.

- Prior, R. L., Wu, X., & Schaich, K. (2005). Standardized methods for the determination of antioxidant capacity and phenolics in foods and dietary supplements. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53(10), 4290-4302.
- Raghavan, S., Kristinsson, H. G., & Leeuwenburgh, C. (2008). Radical scavenging and reducing ability of tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) protein hydrolysates. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56(21), 10359-10367.
- Rebeca, B. D., Pena- Vera, M. T., & Diaz- Castaneda, M. (1991). Production of fish protein hydrolysates with bacterial proteases; yield and nutritional value. *Journal of Food Science*, 56(2), 309-314.
- Renzetti, S., Dal Bello, F., & Arendt, E. K. (2008). Microstructure, fundamental rheology and baking characteristics of batters and breads from different gluten-free flours treated with a microbial transglutaminase. *Journal of Cereal Science*, *48*(1), 33-45.
- Rodríguez-Castillejos, G. C., Tellez-Luis, S. J., Vázquez, M., Lois-Correa, J. A., & Ramírez, J. A. (2014). Evaluation of sorghum grain hydrolysates and dried distillers grains with solubles for the production of microbial transglutaminase. *CyTA-Journal of Food*, *12*(2), 115-120.
- Rossa, P. N., Burin, V. M., & Bordignon-Luiz, M. T. (2012). Effect of microbial transglutaminase on functional and rheological properties of ice cream with different fat contents. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 48(2), 224-230.
- Rostamzad, H., Paighambari, S. Y., Shabanpour, B., Ojagh, S. M., & Mousavi, S. M. (2016). Improvement of fish protein film with nanoclay and transglutaminase for food packaging. *Food Packaging and Shelf Life*, 7, 1-7.

- Ruiz-Capillas, C., Colmenero, F. J., Carrascosa, A. V., & Muñoz, R. (2007). Biogenic amine production in Spanish dry-cured "chorizo" sausage treated with high-pressure and kept in chilled storage. *Meat Science*, 77(3), 365-371.
- Sadeghi, G. H., Mohammadi, L., Ibrahim, S. A., & Gruber, K. J. (2009). Use of bitter vetch (vicia ervilia) as a feed ingredient for poultry. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 65(01), 51-64.
- Sahan, N., Yasar, K., Hayaloglu, A. A., Karaca, O. B., & Kaya, A. (2008). Influence of fat replacers on chemical composition, proteolysis, texture profiles, meltability and sensory properties of low-fat Kashar cheese. *Journal* of Dairy Research, 75(01), 1-7.
- Saito, H., Taguchi, T., Aoki, H., Murabayashi, S., Mitamura, Y., Tanaka, J., & Tateishi, T. (2007). pH-responsive swelling behavior of collagen gels prepared by novel crosslinkers based on naturally derived di- or tricarboxylic acids. *Acta Biomaterialia*, *3*, 89-94.
- Salis, B., Spinetti, G., Scaramuzza, S., Bossi, M., Jotti, G. S., Tonon, G., & Schrepfer, R. (2015). High-level expression of a recombinant active microbial transglutaminase in Escherichia coli. *BMC Biotechnology*, 15(1), 1.
- Santos, M. S. (1996). Biogenic amines: their importance in foods. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 29(2), 213-231.
- Sarkar, N. K., Clarke, D. D., & Waelsch, H. (1957). An enzymically catalyzed incorporation of amines into proteins. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)*, 25, 451-452.
- Sayadi, A., Madadlou, A., & Khosrowshahi, A. (2013). Enzymatic cross-linking of whey proteins in low fat Iranian white cheese. *International Dairy Journal*, *29*(2), 88-92.

- Schuppan, D., Dennis, M. D., & Kelly, C. P. (2005). Celiac disease: epidemiology, pathogenesis, diagnosis, and nutritional management. *Nutrition in Clinical Care*, 8(2), 54-69.
- Selinheimo, E., Lampila, P., Mattinen, M. L., & Buchert, J. (2008). Formation of protein- oligosaccharide conjugates by laccase and tyrosinase. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56(9), 3118-3128.
- Serafini-Fracassini, D., Della Mea, M., Tasco, G., Casadio, R., & Del Duca, S. (2009). Plant and animal transglutaminases: do similar functions imply similar structures? *Amino Acids*, 36(4), 643-657.
- Sharma, R., Lorenzen, P. C., & Qvist, K. B. (2001). Influence of transglutaminase treatment of skim milk on the formation of ε -(γ -glutamyl) lysine and the susceptibility of individual proteins towards crosslinking. *International Dairy Journal*, *11*(10), 785-793.
- Shehata, A. E., El-Nawawy, A., El-Kenany, Y. M., & Aumara, I. E. (2004). Use of bifidobacteria in Ras cheese production II. Microbiological properties. In Proc. The 9 th Egyptian Conference. For Dairy Science and Technology." Milk and Dairy products for a health future". Cairo, Egypt (pp. 563-585).
- Shukla, S., Kim, J. K., & Kim, M. (2011). Occurrence of biogenic amines in soybean food products. INTECH Open Access Publisher.
- Simon, A., Grohens, Y., Vandanjon, L., Bourseau, P., Balnois, E., & Levesque, G. (2003, October). A comparative study of the rheological and structural properties of gelatin gels of mammalian and fish origins. In *Macromolecular Symposia* (Vol. 203, No. 1, pp. 331-338). WILEY- VCH Verlag.
- Singh, H. (1991). Modification of food proteins by covalent crosslinking. *Trends* in Food Science and Technology, 2, 196-200.

- Spano, G., Russo, P., Lonvaud-Funel, A., Lucas, P., Alexandre, H., Grandvalet, C., & Rattray, F. (2010). Biogenic amines in fermented foods. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 64, S95-S100.
- Stainsby, G. (1987). Gelatin gels. Advances in Meat Research (USA).
- Stevanato, R., Cardillo, S., Braga, M., De Iuliis, A., Battaglia, V., Toninello, A., & Vianello, F. (2011). Preliminary kinetic characterization of a copper amine oxidase from rat liver mitochondria matrix. *Amino Acids*, 40(2), 713-720.
- Stratton, J. E., Hutkins, R. W., & Taylor, S. L. (1991). Biogenic amines in cheese and other fermented foods: a review. *Journal of Food Protection*®, 54(6), 460-470.
- Strop, P. (2014). Versatility of microbial transglutaminase. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 25(5), 855-862.
- Sultana, B., Anwar, F., & Przybylski, R. (2007). Antioxidant activity of phenolic components present in barks of Azadirachta indica, Terminalia arjuna, Acacia nilotica, and Eugenia jambolana Lam. trees. *Food Chemistry*, 104(3), 1106-1114.
- Sun, X. D., & Arntfield, S. D. (2012). Gelation properties of myofibrillar/pea protein mixtures induced by transglutaminase crosslinking. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 27(2), 394-400.
- Tams, J. W., Frederiksen, A. M. B., Oestdal, H., Vollmond, T., & Nielsen, P. M. (2011). U.S. Patent Application No. 13/702,829.
- Tang, C., YANG, X. Q., Chen, Z., Wu, H., & PENG, Z. Y. (2005). Physicochemical and structural characteristics of sodium caseinate biopolymers induced by microbial transglutaminase. *Journal of Food Biochemistry*, 29(4), 402-421.

- Taylor, S. L., & Eitenmiller, R. R. (1986). Histamine food poisoning: toxicology and clinical aspects. CRC Critical Reviews in Toxicology, 17(2), 91-128.
- Ten Brink, B., Damink, C., Joosten, H. M. L. J., & In't Veld, J. H. (1990). Occurrence and formation of biologically active amines in foods. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 11(1), 73-84.
- Tiecco, G., Tantillo, G., Francioso, E., & Paparella, A. (1986). Ricerca qualiquantitativa di alcune amine biogene in insaccati nel corso della stagionatura. *Industrie Alimentari*, *34*, 105-107.
- Tornberg, E. (2005). Effects of heat on meat proteins–Implications on structure and quality of meat products. *Meat Science*, 70(3), 493-508.
- Tosh, S. M., & Marangoni, A. G. (2004). Determination of the maximum gelation temperature in gelatin gels. *Applied Physics Letters*, *84*, 4242-4244.
- Traore, F., & Meunier, J. C. (1991). Crosslinking of caseins by human placental factor XIIIa. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 39(10), 1892-1896.
- Valeur, B., & Berberan-Santos, M. N. (2012). Molecular fluorescence: principles and applications. John Wiley & Sons.
- Vargas, M., Pastor, C., Chiralt, A., McClements, D. J., & González-Martínez, C. (2008). Recent advances in edible coatings for fresh and minimally processed fruits. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 48(6), 496-511.
- Vega, C., & Goff, H. D. (2005). Phase separation in soft-serve ice cream mixes: rheology and microstructure. *International Dairy Journal*, 15(3), 249-254.
- Walkenström, P., & Hermansson, A. M. (1996). Fine-stranded mixed gels of whey proteins and gelatin. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 10, 51-62.

- Wang, Y., & Shi, B. (2011). Concentration of gelatin solution with polyethersulfone ultrafiltration membranes. *Food and Bioproducts Processing*, 89(3), 163-169.
- Ward, A. G., & Courts, A. (1977). Science and technology of gelatin. Academic Press.
- Williams-Ashman, H. G., and Z. N. Canellakis. "Transglutaminase-mediated covalent attachment of polyamines to proteins: mechanisms and potential physiological significance." *Physiological Chemistry and Physics* 12, no. 5 (1979): 457-472.
- Wu, J., Chiu, S. C., Pearce, E. M., & Kwei, T. K. (2001). Effects of phenolic compounds on gelation behavior of gelatin gels. *Journal of Polymer Science Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, 39, 224-231.
- Xue, Z., Yu, W., Liu, Z., Wu, M., Kou, X., & Wang, J. (2009). Preparation and antioxidative properties of a rapeseed (Brassica napus) protein hydrolysate and three peptide fractions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 57(12), 5287-5293.
- Yadav, P., Yadav, H., Shah, V. G., Shah, G., & Dhaka, G. (2015). Biomedical Biopolymers, their Origin and Evolution in Biomedical Sciences: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research: JCDR*, 9(9), ZE21.
- Yasueda, H., Kumazawa, Y., & Motoki, M. (1994). Purification and characterization of a tissue-type transglutaminase from red sea bream (Pagrus major). *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 58(11), 2041-2045.
- Yen, G. C., & Hsieh, C. L. (1997). Antioxidant effects of dopamine and related compounds. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 61(10), 1646-1649.

- Yen, G. C., & Kao, H. H. (1993). Antioxidative effect of biogenic amine on the peroxidation of linoleic acid. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 57(1), 115-116.
- Yokoyama, K. I., Nakamura, N., Seguro, K., & KuBoTA, K. (2000). Overproduction of microbial transglutaminase in Escherichia coli, in vitro refolding, and characterization of the refolded form. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 64(6), 1263-1270.
- Yokoyama, K., Nio, N., & Kikuchi, Y. (2004). Properties and applications of microbial transglutaminase. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 64(4), 447-454.
- Zandi, M. (2008). Studies on the gelation of gelatin solutions and on the use of resulting gels for medical scaffolds (Doctoral dissertation, Universität Duisburg-Essen, Fakultät für Chemie» Physikalische Chemie).
- Zhang, F., Fang, L., Wang, C., Shi, L., Chang, T., Yang, H., & Cui, M. (2013). Effects of starches on the textural, rheological, and color properties of surimibeef gels with microbial tranglutaminase. *Meat Science*, 93(3), 533-537.
- Zhang, Y. N., & Zhao, X. H. (2013). Study on the functional properties of soybean protein isolate cross-linked with gelatin by microbial transglutaminase. *International Journal of Food Properties*, 16(6), 1257-1270.
- Zhu Y, Tramper J (2008) Novel applications for microbial transglutaminase beyond food processing. Trends Biotechnol 26:559–565
- Zhu, L., Chen, J., Tang, X., & Xiong, Y. L. (2008). Reducing, radical scavenging, and chelation properties of in vitro digests of alcalase-treated zein hydrolysate. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56(8), 2714-2721.

Zhu, Y., Rinzema, A., Tramper, J., & Bol, J. (1995). Microbial transglutaminase—a review of its production and application in food processing. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 44(3-4), 277-282.